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November 20, 2013

The Honorable Mayor, Members of Town Council
and the Citizens of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia:

Section 15.1-167 of the Code of Virginia, requires an annual independent audit and
report of financial activity of the Town presented in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards by a firm of licensed certified public accounts. Pursuant to that
requirement, the Finance Department and Town Manager's Office hereby issue the
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013.

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the
Town of Christiansburg. Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the
completeness and reliability of all of the information presented in this report.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed data are accurate in all material
respects and are reported in a manner that presents fairly the financial position and
results of operations of the various funds of the Town.

The Report

The Town of Christiansburg’s financial statements have been audited by the
independent certified public accounting firm of Michael B. Cooke, C.P.A, P.C. The goal
of the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements of the Town of Christiansburg for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, are
free of material misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements:
assessing the -accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management; and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. The
independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable
basis for rendering an unqualified opinion that the Town of Christiansburg’s financial
statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, are fairly presented in conformity
with GAAP. The independent auditor’s report is presented at the front of the financial
section of this report.

The independent audit of the financial statements of the Town of Christiansburg was
part of a broader, federally mandated audit performed in accordance with Government
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Auditing Standards as issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America. Those
standards are designed to meet the special needs of federal grantor agencies. The standards
require the independent auditor to report not only on the fair presentation of the financial
statements, but also on the audited government’s internal controls and compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants. These reports are contained at the end of the
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to
accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A) that immediately follows the independent auditors’ report. This letter of transmittal is
designed to complement MD&A and should be read in conjunction with the report of the
independent auditors.

Profile of the Government

Location, History. and Government

The Town of Christiansburg was founded and organized in 1792 and incorporated in 1833. The
Town is located in Montgomery County, and is the county seat. The Town has a land area of 13.9
square miles. Christiansburg is the fourth largest town in the Commonwealth of Virginia with
21,041 residents (2010 Census). The Town is empowered to levy a property tax on real properties
located within its boundaries. Town residents are also citizens of and are subject to taxation by

Montgomery County.

The Town of Christiansburg is organized under the Council-Manager form of government. The
Town Council is the legislative body of the Town and is comprised the mayor and six council
members, who enact laws, determine policies and adopt the annual budget. The Council, including
the Mayor, is elected at large for four-year overlapping terms. Town Council appoints a Town
Manager to who is responsible for the daily management of the Town.

For financial reporting purposes, the Town of Christiansburg includes all funds, agencies, boards,
commissions and authorities that are controlled by or are financially dependent upon the Town.
Control by or financial dependence was determined on the basis of obligation of the Town to
finance deficits, guarantee debt, select the governing authority, approve the budget, have authority
to make a public levy, and to have ownership of assets. The Town of Christiansburg has not
identified any entities that should be reported as discretely presented component units of the
Town.

Jointly governed organizations of the Town of Christiansburg that require only note disclosure
presentation are the Blacksburg-Christiansburg-VPI Water Authority, Montgomery Regional Solid
Waste Authority, the Virginia Tech-Montgomery Regional Airport Authority, the
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Blacksburg/Christiansburg/Montgomery Area Metropolitan Planning Organization, and the New
River Valley Emergency Communications Regional Authority.

Services Provided

The Town of Christiansburg provides services for its citizens that have proven to be necessary and
meaningful. Major services provided under the general government and enterprise function
include: general administration, public safety, public works, planning, and recreational activities.
The Town also provides and maintains water and sewer utilities, solid waste and recycling services,
and Montgomery County provides public school services and educational programs for the
students of the Town of Christiansburg as well as courts and social services programs.

Accounting System and Budgetary Control

The Town's accounting records for general governmental operations are maintained on a modified
accrual basis, with the revenues being recorded when available and measurable and expenditures
being recorded when the services or goods are received and the liabilities are incurred. Accounting
records for the Town’s utilities and other proprietary activities are maintained on the accrual basis.

In developing the Town's accounting system, consideration is given to the adequacy of internal
control structure. Internal accounting controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance regarding: (1) the safeguarding of assets against loss from unauthorized use or
disposition; and (2) the reliability of financial records for preparing financial statements and
maintaining accountability for assets. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the
cost of control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the evaluation of costs
and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

All internal control evaluations occur within the above framework. We believe that the Town’s
internal controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurance of proper
recording of financial transactions.

The Town Council adopts an annual budget prepared by Town management. This budget is
reviewed by the Town Council and is formally adopted by the passage of a budget ordinance. The
Director of Finance is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between line items and
departments within any fund; however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund
must be approved by the Town Council.
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Budgetary control has been established at the individual fund level. Financial reports are produced
showing budget to actual expenditures by line item, and are distributed monthly to Town
departmental management and to others upon request.

Individual line items are reviewed and analyzed for budgetary compliance. Personnel expenditures
are monitored and controlled at a position level and capital expenditures are monitored and
controlted item by item. Revenue budgets are reviewed monthly.

Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in this report for each individual governmental fund for
which an appropriated annual budget has been adopted. For the general fund and major special
revenue funds these comparisons are presented in Exhibit G through Exhibit J as part of the basic
financial statements for the governmental funds. The budget-to-actual comparison for the
permanentl fund is shown in the statistical section of the report as schedule 21.

Local Economy

The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when it is
considered from the broader perspective of the specific environment within which the Town of
Christiansburg operates.

The Town of Christiansburg is located along the I 81 corridor in Montgomery County and is the
county seat. The Town is the major retail shopping outlet for the surrounding community which
includes the City of Radford and the Town of Blacksburg. The City of Radford is home to Radford
University and the Town of Blacksburg is home to Virginia Tech, each house a large annual student
population and Virginia Tech has a strong and popular football team which attracts thousands of
visitors throughout the football season. Christiansburg is alsc home to the Nationwide Dish
Network customer service facility.  In October of 2012 BackCountry.com opened a major
distribution center in the industrial park and is expected to employee approximately 500 people
when fully operational over the next several years. The Town continues to work with the Economic
Development Department of Montgomery County to increase its business base and industrial
customers. Although the Town saw declines in revenues during the recessionary period we have
held our own fairly well and are beginning to see small improvements in the local economy and our
reserves are stable.

Long-term Financial Planning

In 2009 the Town Council established its 2020 Vision which outlined nine vision statements that
guide the short and long term planning for operations and decisions within the Town. Those vision
statements include the following objectives to be: Everyone’s Hometown; a Retail, Commerce, and

iv



Town of Christiansburg
Letter of Transmittal continued

Tourist Destination; To Have Well Informed Citizens; A Green Community; A Recreation, Cultural,
and Entertainment Mecca; A Clean, Healthy, Safe Place to Live; A Model of Effective Land Use; An
Interconnected Community; and a Sound Financial Entity. Each of these objectives are considered
when evaluating financial and operational issues and they are the

framework under which the annual budget is established. Over the last several years the Town has
been establishing new policies and procedures for various aspects of its operations to achieve
these objectives. The Town Council Chambers were updated to include projectors and
microphones and taping of monthly meetings and are now available on the public cable channel
designated for government use so that the citizens may be better informed and new initiatives
have been made to establish more sidewalks and trails throughout the Town for recreational
purposes as well as fostering an interconnected community.

Relevant Financial Policies

The annual budget serves as the Towns operations plan and is prepared in accordance with Virginia
Law providing a forecast for future year's operations and capital needs. This format provides the
governing body with information to assess the sustainability of ongoing operational as well as
capital needs and what changes may need to be made in the future to create a fiscally sound and
sustainable plan.

Each year the budget includes new assignments of fund balance for projects and capital needs in
the future. The Town has adopted a fund balance policy that sets forth best practices for the
amount of unassigned fund balance to be retained and the use of those balances for
nonoperational costs. These fund balances are reviewed each year and appropriate actions taken
to ensure appropriate fund balances are in place.

The Town invests its reserved or assigned fund balances in local banks in certificates of deposits,
savings, and money market funds to provide liquidity and to guard against the risk of loss.
Through periodic requests from proposals the Town strives to increase the investment earnings on
these funds.

The real estate tax rate has remained unchanged in the Town for six years.and was actually reduced
in 2007 from 0.144 to the current rate of 0.1126 per hundred. The 2013-2014 budget has increased
the real estate tax rate to 0.13 In 1980 the tax rate was 0.225 per $100 and was reduced in 1983 to
0.175 and again in 1990 to 0.144 the rate was reduced during significant growth and development
and increased assessed values. The personal property tax rate is 0.45 per hundred and has not
been changed since 1987 when the rate was reduce from 2.25 per hundred. Citizens of
Christiansburg are taxed by both the Town and Montgomery County. The County increased its real
estate tax rate for 2013 from 0.87 per hundred to 0.89. Its personal property tax rate increased
from 2.45 per hundred in 2012 to 2.55 in 2013. The increased real estate rate is primarily to fund
the construction of three new schools within the County.
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The Town participants in the Virginia Retirement System (VRS) with benefits as outlined in the
footnotes to the financial statements. The Towns annual required contribution was equal to its
pension costs this year of $ 1,865,433. The Town currently funds the current year requirement as
well as an amortized portion of the unfunded liability. The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is
amortized over a period of 30 years. The unfunded actuarial accrued liability of the pension fund
as of the last valuation date of June 30, 2011 was $12.5 million.

The Town also provides another pension benefit for personnel hired before June 30, 2011 that

accrues from divesting a retiree of accrued sick leave upon retirement. The details of this plan are
also described in the footnotes of the financial statements. The system is on a pay as you go basis
and has an unfunded accrued liability of $ 1,823,542 as of the last valuation date of June 30, 2013.

Christiansburg also provides its employees who retire from the Town with 20 years of service an
amount that is to be paid into a medical reimbursement account. This other post-employment
benefit is also a pay as you go system and has an unfunded accrued liability of $1,623,059 as of the
last valuation date of june 30, 2013.

Major Initiatives

During this fiscal year the Town made great strides in completing the design and acquiring
easements for the full connectivity of the Huckleberry Trail from the NRV Mall to the Recreation
Center. Town forces completed about 1100 feet of trail along Cambria Street. Our sincerest
thanks and appreciation to Rodger & Barbara Woody for their generous donation of just over 8
acres of land for development of the trail system.

We have also moved forward with an initiative to change our garbage collection system to utilize
automated trucks to pick up larger trash receptacles. This system will provide a cleaner look in the
communities during trash removal days, reduce injuries to workers, and increase the efficiency of
weekly trash collection. The containers were acquired during this fiscal yeaf and the new trucks
will be delivered in the spring of 2014.

The Town also acquired approximately 62 acres of land for future recreational development in
keeping with the Town's Vision for A Green Community; A Recreation, Cultural, and Entertainment

Mecca; A Clean, Healthy, Safe Place to Live.
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The Fire Department was able to acquire a new ladder truck with general fund truck reserves and
funds from Virginia Fire Programs. It is a great addition to our fire department.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Christiansburg Police Department has received the following awards and accreditations:

Governors Transportation Safety Award for Occupant protection. This is awarded by the
Virginia Highway Safety Office to one municipal law enforcement agency in Virginia each
year. The Christiansburg Police Department received this award for its proactive approach
to occupant protection and seat belt usage.

Click it or Ticket Safety Belt Usage Award. This award is presented to municipalities that
prove the highest seat belt usage during the year.

Virginia Law Enforcement Challenge Award. This award is given to the Law Enforcement
Agency that initiates the most proactive traffic safety program annually. Agencies are
judged on municipal size and we were awarded 2™ place in Virginia for agencies with 50-75

officers.
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National award for best community relations vehicle featured in Law and Order Magazine
for honoring our troops.

Police Chief Mark Sisson
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The Christiansburg Rescue Squad was recognized by the Western Virginia Emergency Medical
Services Council and received the following Regional Awards:

Outstanding EMS Agency
Chief Coyle was recognized as Outstanding EMS Agency Administrator

Last year was the first year that the Town produced a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
(CAFR). In prior years the Town has issued General Purpose Financial Statements. We submitted
that report to Government Finance Officers Association and we are very pleased to announce that
we received a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting.

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Town of Christiansburg for
its comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2012. The
Certificate of Achievement is a prestigious national award recognizing conformance with the
highest standards for preparation of state and local government financial reports. In order to be
awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily readable and
efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report, whose contents conform to program
standards and satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable iegal
requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. The Town believes our current
report also conforms to the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements, and we are
submitting it to the GFOA for consideration again this year.

Finance/Treasurers Office Staff
Left to right front Row: Debbie Reed, Lori Bayne, Deborah Mauricio, Valerie Tweedie, Nickie Linkous
Back Row: Jeff Groseclose, Stacy Harris, Sherry Hunter, Amber Beasley, Marc Evans
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We continue to strive to increase the level of information available to the citizens so that they may
be better informed about the governments operations and activities.

We would like to express our sincere thanks to all of the staff in the finance office and all the
department directors and staff for their assistance and support in gathering and compiling all the
data and information required for this report. Their cooperation and dedication to improving the
Town in every way is remarkable.

Respectfully submitted,

”JMW i

Valerie L. Tweedie CPA CFE CGFM Barry Helms
Director of Finance/Treasurer Town Manager
Town of Christiansburg Town of Christiansburg
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

The Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council
Town of Christiansburg, Virginia

Report on Financial Statements

we have audited the accompanying financial statements of the
governmental activities, business-type activities, and each major fund of the
Town of Christiansburg, Virginia, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Town's basic financial statements as listed in the fable of

contents.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statemenis

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors Responsibility

Our responsibility is 1o express opinions on these financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards appiicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amountts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’'s preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
2




we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, and each major fund of the Town of
Christiansburg as of June 30, 2013, and the respective changes in financial
position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
require that the Management's Discussion and Analysis, Virginia Retirement
System - Schedule of Funding Progress, Analysis of Funding Progress for
Sick Pay Plan and Analysis of Funding Progress for Retirement Service Merit
Plan on pages 5-12, 44, 45 and 46, respectively, supplement the basic
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures
to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements,
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other information

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements
and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance
on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued
our report dated November 20, 2013, on our consideration of the Town of
Christiansburg, Virginia's internal control over financial reporting and on our
test of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion
3



on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia's
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

UL B Gk, CPA,PC

Blacksburg, Virginia
November 20, 2013




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG, VIRGINIA
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

The following discussion and analysis of the Town of Christiansburg's financial
performance provides an overview of the Town's financial activities for the fiscal
year énded June 30, 2013. It should be read in conjunction with the Town's basic

financial statements. .
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

* The Town's total net assets decreased by $285,157 during the fiscal year, on
the government-wide basis. The Town's tofal net assets, on the government-
wide basis, totaled $148,284,850 at June 30, 2013. Of this amount,
512,200,745 may be used to meet ongoing obligations to citizens and
creditors, $129,356,750 is invested in capital assets, net of related debt,
$433,263 is restricted for perpetual care in the Cemetery Fund; $6,294.,092 is
restricted for other purposes. '

¢ On a government-wide basis for governmental activities, the Town had
expenses (including transfers) net of program revenues of $23,306,895,
which totaled $794,266 more than the general revenues, of $22,512,631.

* At June 30, 2013 the Town's governmental funds balance sheet reported
total ending fund balances of $17,428803 of which $519,055 was
nonspendable as a part of the cemetery perpetual care fund and prepaid
expenses of the general fund, $1,737,118 was restricted by law or donor
restrictions; $3,114,299 was assigned to specifics savings for future needs of
the Town and $12,058,331 was unassigned and available to meet future

needs.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an infroduction to the Town's
basic financial statements. The Town's financial statements present two types of
statements, each with a different snapshot of the Town's finances. The focus is on
both the Town as a whole (govemment-wide) and the fund financial statements.
The government-wide financial statements provide both shortterm and long-term
information about the Town's overall financial status. The fund financials focus on
the individual parts of the Town government, reporting the Town's operations in
more detail than the government-wide statements, which present a longer-term
view. Presentation of both perspectives provides the user a broader overview,
enhances the basis for comparisons, and better reflects the Town's accountability.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements include the Statement of Net Assets and
the Statement of Activities. These statements provide information about the Town
as a whole using the accrual basis of accounting, which is the method used by
most private-sector enterprises. All current year revenues and expenses are
reported in the Statement of Activities regardless of when cash is received or paid.
These statements allow readers to answer the question, “Is the Town's financial
position, as a whole, better or worse as a result of the year's activities?”

One of the main goals of these two statements is to report the Town's net assets
and changes that affected net assets during the fiscal year. The change in the
Town's net assets, the difference between assets and liabilities, is one way to
measure the Town's financial health, or financial position. Increases or decreases
in net assets are indicators of whether the Town's financial health is improving or
deteriorating. Other nonfinancial factors, such as changes in the Town's property
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

tax base and the condition of the Town's infrastructure should also be considered
in assessing the overall financial health of the Town.

In the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities, the Town's fund-
based activity is classified as follows:

Governmental activities — Most of the Town's basic services are reported here,
including general government, public safety, public works, health and welfare,
parks and recreation, cemetery and community development. Property taxes,
other local taxes, and federal and state grants finance most of these activities.

Business-type activities — The Town's water and sewer operations are reported
here as the Town charges a fee to customers designed to cover all or most of the
cost of the services it provides,

Fund Financial Statements

Traditional users of governmental financial statements will find the fund financial
statement presentation more familiar. The fund financial statements focus on the
Town’s most significant funds rather than fund types. The fund financial
statements begin on page 15 and provide detailed information about the most
significant funds, not the Town as a whole. The Town has two types of funds:

Governmental funds - Most of the Town's basic services are included in
governmental funds. Fund-based statements for these funds focus on how
resources flow into and out of those funds and the balances left at year-end that
are available for future spending. These funds are reported on the modified
accrual basis of accounting, which measures cash and other liquid assets that can
.readily be converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a detailed
short-term overview that helps the reader determine the financial resources that
can be spent in the near future to finance the Town's programs. The differences
between governmental activities as reported in the government-wide and fund
financial statements are reconciled in Exhibits D and F on pages 16 and 18.

The Cemetery Fund (Permanent Fund) is a nonmajor Governmental Fund., The
Town as of April 1, 2008 took over control of the Town's cemetery.

The Special Revenue Fund is used in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that
are legally restricted by contract or donor to expenditures for a specified purpose.
The funds primarily come from federal, state, and county grants and specific
donations to the Fire department and Rescue department.

Proprietary funds — When the Town charges customers for the services it provides,
whether to outside customers or to other units of the Town, these services are
generally reported in proprietary funds. Proprietary funds, like the government-
wide statements, utilize the accrual basis of accounting, and their statements
provide both short and long-term financial information.

The Town's enterprise fund, one type of proprietary fund, is the same as the
government-wide business-type activities; however, the fund financial statements
provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flows. The Town's
enterprise fund is the Water and Sewer Fund.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN AS A WHOLE

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a
government’s financial position. In the case of the Town of Christiansburg, assets
exceeded liabilities by $148,284.,850 at the close of the most recent fiscal year.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

By far the largest portion of the Town of Christiansburg's net assets (87 percent)
reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings and structures, and
equipment); less any related debt used to acquire those assets that are still
outstanding. The Town of Christiansburg uses these capital assets to provide
services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future
spending. Although the Town of Christiansburg's investment in its capital assets is
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay
this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves
cannot be used to liquidate the liabilities.

Summary of Net Assets:

The following table presents a condensed summary of net assets:

Summary of Net Assets
As of June 30, 2013
{In Thousands)
Governmental Activities  Business-type Activities Total Primary Government
- 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Cutrent and other assets $ 22248 § 23,805 § 1,769 § 1,082 % 24,016 $ 24,887
Capital assets, net 108,281 107.610 38,559 39,431 146,840 147,041
Total Assets 130,529 133,572 40,328 40,513 170,857 171,928
Other liabilities 2,866 2,521 890 872 3,756 3,393
Long-term liabilities 12,737 13,174 6,079 6,791 18,816 19,965
Total Liabilities 15,603 15,695 6,969 7,663 22,572 23,358
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt 96,771 95,524 32,585 32,753 129,357 128,277
Restricted 6,727 6,424 - - 6,727 6,424
Unrestricted 11,427 13,772 774 97 12,201 13,869
Total Net Assets 114,925 115,720 33,359 32,850 148,285 148,570

The Town's combined net assets decreased from $148,570,007 10 $148,284.850 as
a result of the increase in net assets of Business-type activities of $509,109 and the
decrease in Governmenital activities of $794,266. This decrease is primarily due to
depreciation expense for the year exceeding additions of new assets. Unrestricted
net assets, the portion of net assets that can be used to finance the day-to-day
operations of the Town totaled $11,426,955. Invested in capital assets, represents
the amount of capital assets owned by the Town, including infrastructure, net of
any outstanding debt. Net assets are reported as restricted when constraints on
asset use are externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, regulators, or
are imposed by law through constitutional provisions. The total amount of
restricted net assets is $6,727,355; $433,263 is restricted for the use of perpetual
care in the Cemetery- Fund and $6,294,092 is restricted by law, contract or donor
restrictions or has been assigned for specific use.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(CONTINUED)

Summary of Changes in Net Assets:

The foliowing table shows the revenues and expenses of the govermment:

Revenues
Program Revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
General Revenues:
Property taxes
Local portion of state sales taxes
Business and professional
occupational license taxes
Utility taxes
Prepared food and beverage taxes
Commonwealth share-personal
property taxes
Cigarette tax
E-911 and communication taxes
“Transient room taxes
Other taxes
Permits, Fees and Licenses
Interest and Investment Income
Fines and Forfeitures
Miscellaneous
Cemetery
Payments from Other Governments-
State and Federal
Total Revenues
Expenses
General Government
Public Safety
Public Works
Health and Welfare
Parks, Recreation and Cultural
Community Development
Interest and Fiscal Charges
Water
Total Expenses
Capital contributions
Insurance recoveries
Transfers
Special item
Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets
Net Assets, Beginning
Net Assets, Ending

Summary of Changes in Net Assets

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013
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{In Thousands)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary

Activities Activities Government
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
2415 § 2433 $§ 6959 § 6,614 § 9374 § 9,047
575 1,138 - - 575 1,138
41 8 46 - 87 8
3,129 3,076 - - 3,129 3,076
1,589 1,563 - - 1,589 1,563
2,082 2,030 - - 2,082 2,030
552 505 - - 552 505
6,164 5,623 - - 6,164 5,623
229 229 - - 229 229
619 630 - - 619 630
957 931 - - 957 931
1,300 920 - 1,300 920
1,277 1,328 - 1,277 1,328
171 190 . 171 190
228 165 - 228 165
173 127 - - 173 127
608 477 156 147 764 622
29 91 - - 29 a1
3,538 3,429 - - 3,538 3,429
25,676 24,893 7,161 6,761 32,837 31,654
2,435 2,220 - - 2435 2,220
8,198 8,659 - - 8,198 8,659
9,148 5,560 - 9,148 5,561
3 3 - 3 3
4,664 4,564 4,664 4,564
1,364 1,410 1,364 1,410
525 550 - - 525 550
- - 6,652 6,455 6,652 6,455
26,337 26,786 6,652 6,455 32,989 33241
- - - 610 - 610
3 2 - - 3 2
- (41D - 411 - -
(136) - - - (136) -
(794) (2,302) 509 1,327 (285) (975)
115,720 118,022 32,850 31,523 148,570 149,545
$ 114926 § 115720 § 33,359 § 32,850 § 148,285 § 148,570




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

The property tax classification, which comprises approximately 12% of total
revenue generated by governmental activities, includes real estate tax, the iocal
portion of personal property tax, machinery & tools tax and public service
corporation taxes. Real estate tax revenue, totaled $2,264.,850.

Sales taxes, consumers utility taxes, Commonwealth share of personal property
taxes, business and professional occupational license taxes, prepared food and
beverage taxes, transient room taxes, E-Oll taxes, and cigarette taxes comprised
‘the majority of other local taxes collected by the Town. Other taxes comprised
approximately 47% of total revenues generated for governmental activities and are
the largest source of revenue for the Town.

Payments from other Governments - State and Federal comprised approximately
14% of governmental activities revenues. Street maintenance funds, and funding
received under House Bill 509 for law enforcement are some of the major sources

of revenue included in this category.

Charges for services include items such as recreational fees and garbage collection
fees represent approximately 9% of the governmental activities revenues.

Public Safety expenses comprised approximately 31% of expenses of the
governmental activities. Operations of the laborintensive Police Department are
included in this category, along with expenses of the Building Inspections, Rescue
Squad, Fire Departrment and E-911 Call Center.

Public Works expenses comprised approximately 35% of governmental activities
expenses. EXpenses for Solid Waste Management, Building Maintenance, Street
Paving, and Street Maintenance are included in the Public Works category.

Recreation expenses comprised approximately 18% of government activities
eXpenses.

The General fund returmned to the Christiansburg Fire Department donated funds in
the amount of $136,728 as a special item when the fire department renewed its
50I(c) 3 status for donated funds during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2013.

Community Development and Health & Welfare include such items as industrial
development, planning district commission, planning, and engineering services.

The net assets of business-type activities increased $509,109 primarily due to
several planned capital improvement projects not completed as anticipated during
the year, as well as some decreases in costs of operations.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN'S FUNDS

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, the governmental funds reflect a total fund
balance of $17,428,803. Of this amount $12,058,331 constitutes unassigned fund
balance, which is available for spending for services, debt obligations and future
capital projects. As a measure of the General Fund's liquidity, it may be usefut to
compare unassigned fund balance to total fund expenditures.

The General Fund balance decreased by $1,967,465 during the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2013 primarily due to the acquisition of approximately 62 acres ($2.5
Million) of land for future recreational development and transferring $552,308 of
virginia Fire Programs funds from the General Fund to a special revenue fund, butt
for these two items fund balance would have increased by $1.26 million. -

The Special Revenue fund balance decreased by $ 29,686 from the prior year.
This was the net effect of a number of transactions within the special revenue
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

funds. The most noteworthy being the transfer of the Virginia Fire Programs funds
to the special revenue fund in the amount of $552,308 and the expenditure of
$349,715 from the same fund for half the cost of a new ladder truck; transferring
$136,728 of funds donated to the fire department to a 50l1{c) 3; The spend down of
several federal and state grant carry over balances from the prior period and
expenditure of $89,518 from the Renva Knowles Estate for the construction and
design of the Renva Knowles Bridge and the Huckleberry Trail, a recreational bike
and walking trial throughout the Town and connecting the trail through Montgomery
County to the Town of Blacksburg.

Local taxes generated the majority of General Fund revenue, totaling approximately
$17,621,503 in fiscal year ending June 30, 2013.

Intergovernmental revenue is the second largest source of General Fund revenues,
generating approximately $3,821,443 in fiscal year ending June 30, 2013. The
majority of this revenue is received from the Commonwealth and includes
reimbursement for law enforcement funding received under House Bill 599, and
street maintenance funds from the Virginia Department of Transportation.

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

General Fund revenues were more than the budgeted revenues by $955,858 due
to higher than expected revenues from meals and lodging taxes.

General Fund expenditures were less than the budgeted amount by $2,339,920 for
general operations due primarily to several large capital projects not being
completed within the fiscal year.

CAPITAL ASSETS

As of June 30, 2013, the Towr's capital assets for its governmental and business-
type activities amounted to $146,840,593 (net of accumulated depreciation). This
investment includes land, streets and highways, construction in progress, land
improvements, buildings and structures, vehicles, equipment, infrastructure and
bond issue costs. The total net decrease {(additions less retirements and
depreciation) in the Town's investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year
was 5173,357

Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation

(In Thousands)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

June 30, 2013 June 30,2012 June 30, 2013 June 30,2012 June 30, 2013 June 30, 2012
Land 5 5367 § 2,695 §$ 12 % 12 $ 5379 % 2,711
Construction in Progress 430 308 - - 430 308
Streets & Highways 69,663 72,551 - - 69,663 72,551
Land Improvements 1,562 1,713 B - 1,562 1,713
Buildings & Structures 25,385 25,651 18,410 19,138 43,795 44,789
Equipment 3,003 2,610 20,137 20,281 23,140 22,891
Vehicles 1,267 681 - - 1,267 681
Infrastructure 1,478 1,265 - - 1,478 1,265
Bond Issue Cost 126 132 - - 126 132
Total $ 108,281 § 107,610 % 38,559 % 39,431 § 146,840 § 147,041

The changes in each category of Capital Assets are presented in detail in note 7 to
the Basic Financial Statements.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

Major capital asset events during the fiscal year included the following:

The acquisition of approximately 62 acres of land for future recreational
development; a new ladder truck for the fire department of $ 700,000; $214,000 for
a new street sweeper; $980,000 in road paving and repaving; $277,000 for new
and replacement sidewalks and trails; and $342,655 for new garbage cans to be
distributed to residents for garbage collection with new automated garbage
collection vehicles to be delivered in 2014.

LONG-TERM DEBT

At June 30, 2013, the Town's long-term liabilities, not including compensated
absences, landfill closure, bond premiums and post closure care costs payable,
totaled $17,483,842 comprised of $11,510,000 related to governmental activities,
and $5,073,842 related to business-type activities. Total debt decreased by
51,279,598 during the fiscal year.

The Charter of the Town of Christiansburg and Code of Virginia limits the Town’s
net debt to 10% of the assessed valuation of real estate within the Town limits.
This limit applies to governmental activity debt only, as long-term liabilities of
business-type funds will be met by revenues generated by those funds. The
Town's governmental activity debt of $11,510,000 is well below the legal debt limit
of $189,617,214 (see Schedule 13 of Statistical Section).

Interest and fiscal charges for fiscal year ending June 30, 2013 were $536,163 of the
total governmental activities expenses.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET AND RATES

The economic outlook during 2013 was somewhat improved over the previous 3
years however we do not see the level of improvement originally anticipated. The
unemployment rate has decreased from 6.8 % to 5.3% as of August 2013. The
unemployment rate for the State of Virginia is at 5.6% as of August 2013. The
impact on the unemployment rate and general revenues as a result of the federal
government shut down in September has not yet been determined. In the short
term the Town has not felt a significant effect but may as the year presses forward.,

Another indicator of the state of the economy is the sales tax revenue, which is
directly proportional to the retail sales. Retail sales did increase at slow rate
through 2013, approximately 2% , and the Town realized an increase in revenue of
$26,228 or 2% as well.  Overall the economic indicator is that sales are improving
indicating some slow economic growth in the area. Revenues are almost at the

pre-recession levels.

In addition to sales tax numbers the tax imposed by the Town on meals and
lodging have increased over prerecession levels even when factoring out the
increases in the rates charged. Transient lodging tax revenue increased $383.037
over 2012 or 42% . 10% of this increase is from growth and 32% is in increase in
the rate from 7% to 9% . Prepared meals tax increased by $527.612 or 9% : 2% of
which was from a fee increase of 0.5% and 7% was from increased sales.

In the fiscal year ending June 30 2013 we saw a 10% decline in building permits
within the Town which may indicate a slowdown in the construction industry
although other indicators are signaling the opposite. The decline may be a timing
issue in more permits puiled late in the prior year and continuing into the current

year.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

These signals seem to indicate that the economy in our area is stabilizing with
some small growth in a few areas. The Town also has concerns with future
intergovernmental revenues from both federal and state sources declining as a
result of the continued economic instability at the state and federal levels
particularly as it relates to street maintenance funds and law enforcement funds.

The 2013-2014 budget includes a rate increase for water and sewer fees 1o help
offset the increased costs of water purchases from the NRV Regional Water
Authority as well as improvements in the Town's infrastructure for water and waste
water systems. We have anticipated only moderate improvement in the economy
and hence conservative estimates of revenues in this budget cycle.

CONTACTING THE TOWN'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers,
investors and creditors with a general overview of the Town's finances and to
demonstrate the Town's accountability for the resources it receives and their uses.
Questions concerning this report or requests for additional information should be
directed to the Town Manager or the Director of Finance at 100 East Main Street,
Christiansburg, Virginia 24073, telephone (540)382-6128. The Town's website
address is www.christiansburg.org.
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
AS OF JUNE 30. 2013

Assets

current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivaients, reserved
Cash and Cash Equivalents, restricted
Investmenis - short-term

Receivables (net of allowancs for uncollectibles)

Prepaid Items

Due from (i0) Other Funds

Due from Other Governments
Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets: -

Capital Assets {net of accumulated depreciation)

Land

Land Improvernents

Buildings and Structures

Machinery and Equipment

Vehicles

Infrastructure’

Construction in Progress

Streets and Highways

Bond Issue Cost (net of ameortization)

Total Capital Assets, Net

Total Noncurrent assets

Total Assets

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Consumer Deposits
Due to Water Authority
Salaries Payable
Accrued General Obligation Bond Interest
interest Payable
Deferred Revenue
Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities:
Due within one year
Due in more than one year
Other Post-Employrment Benefits
Total Long-Term Liabilities

Total Liabilitles

Net Assets
Invested In Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt
Restricted for:
Cemetery Perpetual Care
Public Works
Public Safety
Employee Benefits
Parks and Recreation
Debt
Unrestricted

Total Net Assets

See accompanying notes to financial statements,

Exhibit A

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
4.B88,463 4,888,463
3,274,919 - 3,274,919
1,495,146 1,495,146
0,481,991 - 9,481,901
3,242,100 1,124,336 4,366,445
86,346 17,659 104,005
(626,574) 626,574 -
405,156 405,156
22,247,556 1,768,562 24,016,125
5,367,469 12,500 5,379,960
1,562,304 - 1.562,304
25,385,074 18,410,206 43,795,370
3,003,128 20,136,303 23,139.431
1,266,065 1,266,065
‘1,477,581 1,477,581
429,814 420 814
60,662,034 - 69,662,934
126,225 - 126,225
108,281,404 38,559,000 146,840,503
108,281,494 38,559,099 146,840,593
130,529,050 40,327,667 170,856,717
2,235,220 - 2,235,220
- 338,858 338,958
. 426,025 426,925
408,465 62,032 470,497
- 61,646 81,646
215,469 215,469
6,885 - 6,885
2,866,039 889,562 3,755,60!
669,571 740,338 1,409,909
11,717,640 5338,721 17,056,361
349,096 - 340,996
12,737.207 6.079,059 18,816,266
15,603,246 6,968,621 22,571,867
96,771,404 32,585,256 129,356,750
433,263 433,263
894,352 894,352
3,078,797 3,078,707
1,045,707 1,045,707
1,003,082 1,003,082
272,154 . 272,154
11,426,955 773,790 12,200,745
114,925,804 33,359,046 148,284,850




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Program
Revenues
) Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and
Functlons/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Confributions
Governmental Activities:

General Government S 2,435,046 $ - S ) S -

Public Safety B,198,793 - 575,182 41,008

Public Works 0,147,882 1,383,075 E

Health and welfare 3,193 2 -

Parks, Recreation, and Culture 4,664,025 1,021,767 -

Community Development 1,363,587 -

Interest on Long-Term Debt 525,402 - . -
Total Governmental Activities 26,337,928 2,414,842 575,182 41,008
Business-Type Activities:

water and Sewer 6,651,445 6,958,537 -

Grants in Ald of Construction - - - 45,971
Total BusincsS-Type Activities 6,651,445 6,058,537 E 45,971
Total Primary Government 5 32,080,374 $ 9,373,379 5 575,182 S B6,979

General Revenues:
Taxes:
Property
Sales
Prepared Meal
Other
Permits, Fees and Licenses
Revenues From Use of Property
Investment Earnings
Intergovernmental
Fines and Forfeliures
Cemetery
Other
Transfers
Special liem
Total General Revenues and Transfers

Change in Net Assets

Net Assets, July 1, 2012
Net Assets, June 30, 2013

See accompanying notes to financial statements,




Net (Expense) Revenue and

Change in Net Assets

Primary Govemment

Exhibit B

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

(2.435,046) 5 5 (2.435,046)
(7.582,603) (7.582,603)
(7,754,807) - (7,754,807
(3,183) - (3.193)
(3.642,258) - (3.642,258)
(1,363,587) - (1,363,587)
(525,402) . (525,402)
(23,306,895) {23,306,895)

- 307,092 307,092

- 45,971 45,071

353,063 353,063

5 {23,306,895) 5 353,063 S (22,953,832)

3,125,019 3,129,019
1,589,154 : 1,589,154
6,163,941 - 65,163,941
6,757,785 - 6,757,795
170,580 . 170,580
217,128 * 217,128
228,040 - 228,040
3,799,427 3,799,427
172,565 - 172,565
28,930 T 28,930
302,780 156,046 548,826
(136,728) = (136,728)
22,512,631 156,046 22,668,677
(794,266} 508,109 (285,157)
115,720,070 32,849,837 148,570,007
5 114,925,804 3 33.359,046 5 148,284,850




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
BALANCE SHEET
AS OF JUNE 30, 2013

Assels
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents, reserved
Cash and Cash Equivalents, restricted

Investments - short4ermn
Receivables, net

Taxes, Including penaltles (net of allowance of $46,261}
Accounts (net of allowance of $22,462)

Prepaid ltems

Gue from Other Funds

Due from Other Govemments
Total Assets

Liabillties
Accounts Payable
Salaries Payable
Due to Other Funds
Deferred Revenue
Toial Liabilitles

Fund Balance
Nonspendable
Restricted
Comirnitted
Assigned
Unasslgned
Total Fund Balance

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance

See accornpanying notes 1o financlal statements.

Exhibit C

Total
Special Govemmental

General Cemetery Revenue Funds
S 4,742,439 § ] - § 4,742,430
2.856,026 - 2,856,926
2,043,180 2.043,180
0,070,872 402,019 15,074 9,497,965
102,348 - 102,348
971,580 - 971,580
85,791 554 - 86.345
30.691 - 30,691
263,540 - 141,616 405,156
18,102,596 - 433.263 2.200.779 20,736,639
2,230,114 . 5.106 2,235,220
404,195 2315 1,056 408,465
205,443 - 451,821 657,265
2,107 - 4778 6,885
2,841,859 2,315 463,661 3.307.835
85,702 433.263 = 518,055
- 1,737,118 1,737,118
3.114,209 - 3.114,208
12,060,646 (2,315) - 12,058,331
15,260,737 430,948 1,737,118 17,428,803
$ 18102506 & 433,263 ] 2200779 ' § 20,736.630
b — 4




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Exhibit D

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

AS OF JUNE 30, 2013

Fund Balances-otal governmental funds $ 17,428,803
Amounts reporied for govemmental activities In the Statement of Netl Assets are different because:

The installment of the rea) property taxes recsivable would not be recognized for govemmental
aclivilies because i is not collectible within 45 days alier year-end 2.168,18]

Capital assets used in govemmental activiiies are not financial resources and therefore are
not reported in the governmental funds:

Govemnmential capital assels $ 135,938,507
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization {27,657.012) 108,281,405

Compensatled absences are not due and payable In the current year and therefore are not
reported In the govemmental funds. {695,712}

Landflll closure and postclosure cars cost are not due and payable in the current vear
and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds. . {124,814)

Accrued merltssick pay (OPEB) are not due and payable in the current year and therefore are not
reported In the govemmental funds., {349,995)

Interest payable used In the governmental activities are not payable from current resources
and therefore are not reported In the governmental funds. (215,469)

Govermnmental funds report the effect of bond premiums when debl Is first issued, whereas these
amounts are deferred and amortized in the Statement of Activities and reported as a long-erm
liabllity on the Statement of Net Assels. (56,685)

Long-erm llabilities are not due and payabie in the current year and therefore are not reporied
In the govermnmental funds:

2007 Revenue Bond (1,635,000)
2004 Revenue Bond {9.340,000)
1995 General Obligation Note {535,000) (11,510,000)
Net Assels of Govemmenital Aclivilies 5 114,925,804
E ______— — —— ———_]

See accompanying notes to financial statements,



STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
hid NDED JUNE 30. 2013
Revenues:
Taxes:

Propery

Sales

Prepared Meal

Other

Permits, Ptivilege Fees and Regulatory Licenses
Fines and Forfeitures
Revenues from Use of Property
Investment Eamings
Charges for Services
Intergovemmenial
Cemetery
Other
Total Revenues

Expenditures:
General Govermment Administration
Public Salety
Public Works
Heallh and wellare
Parks, Recreation and Culiure
Community Development
Capital OQutlay -
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement
Interest and Fiscal Charges
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues over Expendilures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Insurance Recoverles
Transfers (to) from:
Special Revenue Fund
Cernelery Fund
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Special tem:
Transfer of funds to other organizations

Net Changes in Fund Balance

Fund Balancs, July I, 2012
Fund Balance, June 30, 2013

See accompanying notes to financial statements,

Exhibit E

Total
Special Governmenital
General Cemelery Revenue Funds

5 3.110,613 5 ] 3,110,613
1,580,154 1,588,154
6,163,041 - 6,163,941
6,757,795 - 8,757,705
170,580 . 170.580
172,565 - 172,565
217,128 : - 217,128
196,623 " 7.971 23,446 228,040
2,414,843 - 2,414,843
3,821,443 504,174 4,415,617

. 28,930 28,830

270,265 69,510 49,685 389.460
24.884.040 106,411 667.308 25,658,666
2,021,703 2,021,703
7,283,535 436,560 7.720.095
5,137,107 v 5.137.107
3,183 3,193
3.636,842 150,075 3,786,017
1,340,522 - 1,348,522
5,580,822 59.622 676,010 6,325,554
575,000 - 575,000
536,163 - - 536,163
26,132,887 209,697 1,112,570 27,455,254
(1.248.038} (103,288) (445,264) {1,796,588)
3.319 3,319

(552.308) - 552,308

{170,438) 170,438 = -
(719.427) 170,438 552,308 3,319
(136.728) (136.728)

(LDE7,465) 67,152 (20,684) (1,.820,007)
17,228,202 353,786 1,766,802 18,358,800
5 15,260,737 430,048 & 17378 & 17,428,803




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
OF THE GOVERNMENTAL. FUND TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Netl Change in Fund Balances - total governmental fund
Amounts repored for govemmental activities in the Slatement of Aclivities are different because:

Revenues in the Staiement of Actlviiles that do not provide current financial resources are not
repaorled as revenues in the funds:

Change in deferred revenues $
Change In taxes receivable

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expendilures. Howsver, in the Statement of
Aciivities, the cost of those assets is depreclaled over Ltheir estimaled useful lives:

Exhibit F

5 ({1.929,997)

1.863

15,543 18,408

Expenditures {or caplial assets $ 6,159,096
Less: current year depreciation (5,470,275) 688,821

Governmenial funds reponl an increase in compensaled absences as an expenditure.
However, in the Statement of Netl Assets the addition increases long-term liabilities.

Governmental funds repon the decrease in post closure care costs as an expendilure.
However, in the Siatement of Net Assets the reductions reduce long-ierm liabilliles.

Governmenital funds reporn repayment of bond principal as an expendliure. However, in the
Siaterment of Nei Assels the repayment reduces long-term liabilities.

Governmenial funds report premiums on bonds as other financing sources and uses. However,
in the Stalement of Nel Assels these bonds are reporied as a long-lerm liabllhy.

Govermnmental [unds do not Include ameortization as an expenditure. However, bond issue cosis
are capitalized and amortized over the life of the bond on the Siatemen! of Revenues,
Expendilures and Changes in Fund Balances,

Current year amoriization

Accrued inlerest expense reponed in the Stalement of Aclivilies does nol require the use of
current financlal rescurces and Is therefore not reporied as expenditures in governmental funds.

Accrued merit/sick pay (OPEB) In the Statement of Activities does not require the use of cusrent
financial resources and is therefore not reported as expenditures in governmenial funds.

Transfer of project in progress during prior fiscat year 10 the Enterprise Fund. The project was
reported as an expendiiure in the Special Revenue Fund in the prior year and is now reponed
as a capilalized assel in the Enlemprise Fund.

Change in Net Assels of Govemmenial Activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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(57.716)
9,553
575,000

4,049

(5.894)

10,760

(94.890)

{12,359)

] 794.,266)



TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND {modifled accrual basls of accounting)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Revenues (Inflows)
General Property Taxes
Consumer Utility Taxes
Business License Taxes
Franchise License Taxes
Motor vehicle Licenses
Bank Franchise Taxes
Transient Lodging Taxes
Prepared Meal Tax
Cigarette Tax
Bullding and Zoning Fecs
Court and Parking Fines
Interest
Rentals and Sale of Surplus items
Solid Wasle Service
DFR Fees and Contributions
Miscellaneous
Non-Categorical
State Ald (ABC), etc.
Sales Tax
DJCP Graris
Emergency Service Granis
Streel Malnlenance Payments
Litter Control Grant
Law Enforcement Funds
National Guard Armory
Not-Revenue Receipts
Bond Construction Fund
Total Revenues

Expenditures (Outflows):
Current:
General Government Administration
Police Deparniment
voluntesr Fire Department
Llfssaving and Rescue
Inspections-
Sireel Depanment
Solid Waste Service
Building and Grounds
National Guard Armory
Municlpal Building
Municipal Shop
weliare/Soclal Services
Parks and Recreation
Aquatic Center
Library
Planning/Cornmunity Development
Engineering
Debi Service
Total Expenditures

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures

Oiher financing sources (uses)
Translers
Total other financing sources (USGs)

Net change In fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year

Fund balance at end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Exhibit G

Variance with

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Favorable
Original Final Actual (Unfavorable)
3,020,840 -] 3,020,840 3,110,613 3 89,773
500,000 500,000 522,469 22,469
1,977.000 1,977,000 2,082,395 105,395
140,000 140,000 158,144 18,144
480,000 480,000 479,817 (183)
500,000 500,000 635.674 135,674
1,053,400 1,053,400 1,303.425 250,025
5.885,000 5,885,000 6,163,941 168,941
750,000 . 750,000 619,200 {130,791}
178,000 178,000 170,580 (74204
160,000 100,600 172,559 72,559
125,000 125,000 186,623 71,623
206,000 206,000 217,128 1,128
1,381,000 1,381,000 1,393,081 2,081
994,950 994,950 1,021,767 26,817
216,970 216,970 270,265 53.265
1,328,550 1,328,550 1,333,193 4,643
1,550.000 1,850,000 1,589,154 39,154
21,015 21,015
46,000 46,000 (46,000}
2,930,000 2,930,000 2,994,653 64.653
6.183 6,183
416,700 416,700 416,572 (128)
3,000 3.000 6,489 3.480
30,000 30,000 3,319 (26,681)
2,800,000 - - -
26,732,410 23.932,410 24,888,268 955,858
2,518,498 5,459,497 4,964,464 495,033
5,865,673 5.865.673 5,861,100 4,573
955,063 1,692,104 1,126,888 565,216
827,672 827,672 661,979 165,693
337.092 337.092 316,637 20,455
5,565,449 5,565,449 4,687.595 877,854
1,637,803 1,637,803 1,614,843 22.560
158,425 158,425 69,576 (11,151)
27.950 27.950 27,873 77
113,067 113,067 131,274 {18.207)
252,200 252,209 224,588 27.621]
3,193 3.193 3,193 -
2,097,961 2,097,961 1,887.926 210,035
1,853,552 1,853,552 1,911,167 (57.615)
15,000 15,000 15,000
654,069 654,064 642,619 11,450
799,341 796,341 775,103 24,238
1,112,850 1,112,850 1,111,163 1,688
24,785,867 28,472,907 26,132,987 2,330,920
1,936,543 (4,540,407} {1,244.719) 3,295,778
[2,165,523) (2,165,533) (722,745) 1442 788
{2,165,523) {2,165,533) (722,745} 1442788
(228,980) (8,706.030) (1,967 ,465) 4,738,565
17,13),281 5 17,228,202 17,228,202 5
1600234  § 10,522,172 15260737 § 4,738,565




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Exhiblt G

{continued)

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND [(modifled accrual basis of accounting)
YEAR 0, 201

Explanation ol Dlfferences between Budgetary Inflows and Outllows and GAAP Revenues and Expendiures:
Sources/nflows ol Resources:

Actual amount of *total revenues' from the budgetary comparison
s 24,888,268

staternent,
Insurance recoverles are Inflows of budgetary resources but are not

revenues for financial reporting purposes (Exhibit E). (3.319)
Total general fund revenues as reported on the statement of revenues, expendttures, and changes

in fund balances (Exhibit E). 5 24,884,940

Uses/Outfliows of Resources:

Actial amount of "other financing sources (uses)" from the budgelary

comparison statement, L] 722,745
insurance recoveries are inflows of budgetary resources but are nol

revenues for financial reporting purposes (Exhiblt E), {3.319)
Total general fund "other financing sources and uses" as reported on the siatement of revenues,

expenditures, and changes in fund balances (Exhibit E). 5 710427

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - SPECIAL REVENUE FUND (rmodified accrual basls of accounting)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Beginning unassigned fund balance:

Revenues (Inflows):
Interest Income
State Grants
Federal Grants and other
Contributions and Miscellaneous
Amounts Available for Expenditures

Expenditures (Outflows):
Current:
Police Department
volunteer Fire Department
Lifesaving and Rescue
Parks and Recreation
Sidewalks Trails Infrastructure

Total Expenditures
Excess of revenues over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers
Total other financing sources (Uses)

Ending Budgetary Fund Balance

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Exhibit H

Variance with
Final Budget -

Budgeted Amounts Favorable

Original Final Actual {Unfavorable)

-] 758,624 5 1,667,624 s 1,766,802 3 99,178
5,000 5,000 23,446 18,446
1,334,980 1,334,980 149,834 {1,185,146)
1,414,950 1,414,950 442,491 (972,459)
43,302 43,302 51,535 8,233
3,556,856 - 4,465,856 2,434,108 (2,031,748}
265,057 265,057 162,568 102,489
521,255 521,255 424,856 96,309
426,210 426,210 233,320 192,880
3,000 3,000 167,109 (164,109}
2,457,172 2,457,172 124,717 2,332,455
3,672,694 3,672,694 1,112,570 2,560,124
{115,838) 793,162 1,321,538 528,376
500,000 500,000 415,580 (84.,420)
500,000 500,000 415,580 {84,420}

] 384,162 5 1,293,162 ] 1,737,118 5 443,956
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBLIRG

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUND FIRE (modifled accrual basls of accounting)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Beginning unassigned fund balance:

Revenues (Inflows):

Interest Income

Contributicns

State Revenue

Federal Revenue and other Grants
Amounts Available for Expenditures

Expenditures {Outflows):
Current;
Virginta Flre Programs
Fire County Operating
Fire County Virginia Progams
Fire Donations

Total Expenditures
Excess of revenueas over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers
Total other flnancing sources (uses)

Ending Budgetary Fund Balance

See accompanying notes to financial statements,

22

Exhibit 1

Vartance with

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Favorable
Qriginal Final Actuat {Unfavorable}
s 216,777 § 329,492 5 329492. § -
6,414 6,414
150,270 150,270 {150,270}
46,000 46,000 60,010 14,010
- - 100,270 100,270
413,047 525,762 496,187 {20,576)
- 349,712 (349,712)
100,270 100,270 75,144 25,126
50,000 50,000 30,000
150,270 150270 424,856 (274,586}
262,777 375,492 71,331 (304,162)
{136,728) (136,728) 406,773 543,500
{136,728) (136,728) 406,773 543,500
5 126,050 5 238,765 5 478,103 5 239,339




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUND RESCUE (modlfied accrual basis of accounting)

AR ENDED: E 2013

Beginnlng unassigned fund balance:

Revenues (Inflows)

Interest Income

Contributions

State Revenue

Federal Revenue and other Grants
Amounts Avallable for Expendtiures

Expendltures (Cutflows):
Current:
Emergency Medical Service Grant
Rescue Donations
Rescue County Funds
Four For Llie

Total Expenditures
Excess of revenues over expenditures

Other financing sources [uses):
Transfers
Total other financing sources (Uses)

Ending Budgetary Fund Balance

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Exhibit J

Varlance with

Flnal Budget -

Budgeted Amounts Favorable
Qriginal Final Actual {Unfavorable)
$ 285,333 $ 503,105 $§ 503,105 S i
. 5,647 5,647
15,000 15,000 17,170 2,170
25,000 25,000 18,018 (6,282}
99,000 109,000 111,485 2,495
424,333 652,105 655,435 3,330
. 37,210 32,991 4219
290,000 290,000 93,075 186,925
98,000 99,000 85,283 3,717
- 10,000 11,872 (LB72)
389.0C0 436,210 233,320 202 890
35,333 215,805 422,115 206,220
(100,000) (100,000} - 100,000
{100,000) (100,000} 100,000
$§ (64667) § 115885 5 422115 5 306,220
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

PROPRIETARY FUND
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
AS OF JUNE 30, 2013

Assets

Current Assets:
Accounts Recetvable (Net of Allowance for
Uncollectible Accounts of $102,326)
Prepaid items
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets:
Water System
Equipment
waste Water System
Waste Water Treatrment Plant
Less: Allowance for Depreciation
Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets
Liabilities

Current Liabilities:
Accrued General Obligation Bond Interest
Consumer Deposits
Due to water Authority
Current Maturities VA Revolving [.oan Fund
Salaries Payable
Compensated Absences
Due to Other Funds
Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities:
VA Revolving Loan Fund
Total Long-Term Liabtlities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt
Unrestricted AsSsets

Total Net Assets

5ee accompanying notes to financial staterments,
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Exhibit K

Business-type
Activities -
Enterprise Fund

Water and Sewer
Fund

5 1,124,336
17,658

1,141,994

12,087,730
3,660,761
* 17,697,106
32,103,139
(27.970,638)

38,559,008

39,701,092

61,646
338,058
426,825
740,338

62,032

105,217
(626,574}

1,108,543

5,233,504

5,233,504

6,342,046

32,585,256
773,790

33,358,046




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

PROPRIETARY FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services:
- Water and Sewer Service Fees
water and Wastewater Connection Fees
Penalties and Other
Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:

Salaries and Wages

Employee Benefits

water Authority Purchases

Utilities

Repairs and Maintenance

Depreciation and Amortization

Materials and Supplies

General and Administrative
Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Interest and Fiscal Charges
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Income {loss) before contributions and transfers

Capital Contributions
Transifers In (Out)

Change in Net Assets

Net Assets, July 1, 2012
Net Assets, June 30, 2013

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Exhibit L

Business-type
Activities -
Enterprise Fund

Water and Sewer
Fund

s 6,531,803
426,634
156,046

7,114,583

1,616,818
218,388
1,541,555
315,547
158,658
1,643,954
514,909
419,074’

65,428,902

685,681

(222,543)

(222,543)

463,138

45,971

508,109

32,849,937

$- 33,359,046




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

PROPRIETARY FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash Received From:
Customers
Cash Paid to/for:
Employees |
Supplies and Services
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities
Transfer from General Fund
Interfund borrowing

Net Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Payment of Principal
Interest on Debt
Purchase of Fixed Assets

Net Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
None
Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, July 1, 2012
Cash and Cash Equivalents, June 30, 2013

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash Flows
From Operating Activities:

Operating Income (L.0ss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in} operating activities:
Depreciation and Amortization
Change in Current Assets and Current Liabilities
{Increase) Decrease in Current Assets:
Accounis Receivable
Prepaid Items
Accounts Payable
Due to Water Authority
Consumer Deposits
Compensated Absences
Salaries Payable
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Noncash Investing, Capital, and Financing Activities:
Contributed Capital - Grants in Aid of Construction

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Exhibit M

Enterprise Fund

Water & Sewer
Fund

5 7,065,804

{1,837.052)
(2,942 ,538)

2,286,214

(626,574)

(626,574

(704,508)
(229,322)
(725,720)

(1,650,640)

5 685,681

1,643,054

(66,240
6,201
{1.420)
2,335
17,459
(7.628)
5,782

S 2,286,214

S 45,971



TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

L

Summary of Significant Accounting Pollcies

A,

The Financial Repottng Entity

The Town of Christiansburg, Virginla (the “Town") operates on a Council-Manager form of government and provides municipal
services to its residents Including fire and police protection, planning, engineering, inspections, public works and public
utilities, parks, and general government. The Town also provides water, sewer, refuse collection, and public transit services to
its citizens. The Town is the county seat of Montgomery County and has taxing powers subject to state-wide restrictions and
limits. The financial statements present the Town as the primary government. A component unit Is an entity for which the
Town Is considered to be financlally accountable. The Town does nhot have any component units.

For flnanclal reporting purposes, In conformance with GASB Statement 14, Defining the Govemmental Reporting Entity, the
Town Includes all funds, account groups, agencies, boards, commissions, and authotities that are controlled by or dependent
upon the Town Council. Control by, or dependence upon, the Town Councll was determined on the basis of the following:

1. The Town's ability to designate the management or slignlficantly control the operations of the entity.

2. The Town's responsibility for the fiscal matters of the entity, including the authorization of budgetary appropriations,
funding of operating deficiencies, control or use of surplus funds, responsibility for debts, and control over the collections
and disbursement of funds.

3. The scope of public services rendered by and the geographic location of the entity.

Based on the foregolng criterla, the financial actlvities of no other organizatlons are included In the accompanying financlal
statements,

The following entities are excluded from the accompanying financial statements:
Jolntl vern )4 1
Blacksbhurg-Chrisilansburg-VFPIl Water Authorlty

The Blacksburg-Christiansburg-VPl Water Authorlty was created by a concurrent resolution of the Town and other
participating govemlng bodies. The Authotlty operates and maintalns a water supply system for the Town, Virginia Tech,
and the Town of Blacksburg, Each governing body appoints one member of the five-member board of directors. Two at-
large members are appointed by joint resolution of each of the member localities. All indebtedness 1s payable solely from
the revenues of the water system. Although the Town Is one of the Authority’'s customers, the Town has no obllgation for
any of its Indebtedness, Durtng fiscal year 2013, the Town pald $1,510,065 to the water authority and has a fiscal year end
liabllity of $426,925 for purchases of water. On June 26, 2013 the Mongomery County Public Service Authority was Joined
with the Blacksburg-Christiansburg-VPl Waier Authority and it was renamed the NRV Regional Water Authority. The new
Authority will operate and maintaln a water supply system for the Town of Christlansburg, Town of Blacksburg, Virginla
Tech and Montgomery County PSA. Each governing body will appoint one member to the five person Board of Directors,
one from each member and one at larde member. Initially, until the term of one of the current at large members expires
the board wlll be comprised of six members. The board will be then be reduced to five and the one at large member will
be appointed by the members of the authority.

Monigomery Regional Solid Waste Authonty

The Town is a member of the Montgomery Regional Solid Waste Authority (MRSWA), which was created by a joint
resolutlon on December 14, 1994 by the Town of Blacksburg, Virginla, the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia, Montgomery
County, Virginia, and Virglnla Tech. The Authority is govemed by a five-member board whereby the governing body of
each member jurisdiction appoints one board member, and all jurisdictions Jointly appolint a fifth member. The Authorlty,
which began operation in August 1995, operates a sanitary landftll and recycling facility. Each jurisdiction provides
collection of solid waste and recyclables from within its jurisdiction and delivers the collected materials to the Authority for
disposal of waste In the landfill, and processing and marketing of the recyclables. All Authority operations are financed by
tipping fees and the indtvidual jurlsdictions are not liable for the debt of the Authorlty. The MRSWA has negotiated with an
adjacent Authority (New River Resource Authority) for shared use of a new permitted landfill. The Town pald $579,742 In

tipptng fees during fls¢al year 2013,

Virginia Tech-Monigomery Regional Alrport Authonty

The Virginia Tech-Montgomery Regional Airport Authority {the “Alirport Authority™) was created by concurrent resolutions of
the govemning bodies of the Town of Blacksburg, Viiginia, Town of Christtansburg, Virginia, Montgomery County, Virginia,
and Virginia Tech. The Authority is govemed by a five-mernber board whereby the govemning body of each member
Jjurisdiction appoints one board member, and all jurisdictions jointly appolnt a fifth member. The Aimort Authority utllizes
revenues generated by the airport and contributions by the members to fund all airpori actlvities. The Airport Authority has
bonded indebtedness. All indebtedness of the Authorlty Is payable solely from its revenues and Is not an obligation of the
Town. During fiscal year 2013, the Town paid $50,000 toward the operations of the airport.

27




TOWN OF CHR. URG

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

A

The Flnancial Reporting Entity {continued)
Blacksbuig/ChristiansburgMonigomery Area Metropolitan Planning Organization

The Town is a member of the Blacksburg/ChristiansburgMonigomery Area Metropolitan Planning Organization. The
Metropolitan Planning Organlzation (MPC) is a transportation policy-making organization serving the Blacksburg,
Christiansburg, and Monigomery area, The MPQ provides the Information, tools, and public input necessary to improve the
performance of the transportation system of the region. Future transportation needs are addressed, giving consideration 1o
all possible strategies and the community's vision. The Town has three members within this organization, two of which are
votlng members, During fiscal year 2013, the Town paid $6,114 toward operations of the MPQ,

New River Valley Emergency Communications Regional Authority

The Town ls a member of the New River Valley Emergency Communications Regional Authority (the “Communications
Authority”). The Communications Authority is a regional partnership, serving the County of Montgomery, the Towns of
Blacksburg and Christiansburg, and virginla Tech. The Communications Authority will provide quallty and reliable 911
dispatch and emergency communication services to the community and agencies In these localities. The Town has one
member on the Board of this organization. Durlng flscal year 2013, the Town paid $82,000 toward opetations of the

Cormrmmunications Authority.

Financlal Statement Presentatlon

In February 2009, Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reportlng and
Governmental Fund Type Deflnltlons. The objective of GASB Statement No. 54 Is to enhance the usefulness of fund balance
information by providing clearer fund balance classlifications that can be more conslstently applied and by clarifying the
existing governmental fund type definitions, Fund balance is displayed in accordance with GASB No. 54 using the following

classifications:

1) Nonspendable fund balance - Inventories, prepaid items, accounts receivable and other current assets that are consumed
In the course of operations that cannot be converted to cash or are not expected to be available to pay current liabilities,
This classification Includes funds set aside for perpetual care of the cemetery.

2) Restricted fund balance - The resources of a governmental fund that are subject to constraints imposed by external parties
or law. These restrictions include such things as debt covenants' or constraints Imposed by leglslation or federal and state
agencies on the use of intergovernmental revenue, such as grants and contracts.

3) Committed fund balance - Represents amounts that have been designated by Town Council action to be reported as
committed, funds may not be used for any other purpose unless the Town Council takes actlon to remove or change the

constraints. .

4) Assigned fund balance - Represents the net resources of govemmental funds that the government iniends for a specific
purpose. Assigned resources do not require formal action of the govemning body. The permanent fund's net resources
would be assigned fund balance as well as any net resources remalning in the special revenue funds,

5) Unassigned fund balance - Represents funds avallable for any purpose and represents expendabie financlal resourcas that
can be used to meet contingencies and cash flow requirements.

Expenditures shall be charged first to restricted fund balance, second to commiltted fund balance, third to asslgned fund
balance and finally to unassigned fund balance as appropriate for the expenditure and to the fund being expended,

The Town Manager, in consultation with the Director of Flnance and Town Councll, shall determine funds to be classified
as asslgned, ’

Except in extraordinary circumstances, unassigned fund balance will not be used to fund any portlon of the ongoing and
routine operating expendliures of the Town. Unassigned funds are 1o be used primarily to insure adequate reserves, to
respond to unforeseen emergencies, to provide cash flow, and to provide overall financial stability.

In June 1999, Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement No, 34, Bas/c Financial Statemenis - and
Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Govermnments. GASB Statement No. 34 established new
requirements and a new reporting model for the annual financlal reports of state and local governments. GASB Statement No.
34 was developed to make annual reporis easier to understand and more useful 10 people who use governmental financial
information to make declsions. GASB Statement No. 34 Includes:

Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) - MD&A Introduces the basic financlal statemenis and provides an analytical
overview of the govemment's financial activities in a narrative format. An analysis of the govemment's overall financial
positlon and results of operations is included to assist users In assessing whether financlal position has improved or

deterlorated as a result of the year's actlvitles.
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1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

B.

Financial Statement Presentatlon (continued)

Govemment-Wide Financial Statermenis - Present financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement
focus and full accrual accountlng for all of the government's activities. These statements will include all assets, liabllities,

revenues and expenses of the primary govermnment.

The Town does not allocate indirect expenses. The government-wide statements segregate governmental activities, which
are normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, and business-type actlvitles, which rely on user fees and

charges for support.

Statement of Net Assets - Presents both govcmmcntél and business-type activities on the full accrual, economic resource
basis, which Incorporates long-term assets and recelvables, as well as long-term debt and obligations.

Statement of Activities - Presents the net cost of each individual function. Program revenues are presented as a reduction of
the total cost of providing program services. Program revenues Include charges for services, operating grants and
contributions and capltal grants that are direcily assoclated with a specific function, Taxes and other revenue sources not
repornted as program revenue are Included as general revenue,

Fund Financial Statemenis - These financial statements present information on major governmental and enterprise funds.

The accounts are organized on the basis of fund classification, each of which Is consldered to be a separate accounting entity.
The operation of each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets,
llabilities, fund balances or net assets, revenues, and expendltures or expenses, as appropriatie,

Govemnment resources are allocated o and accounted for in indlvidual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to
be spent and the means by which spending acitivities are controlled. The various funds are grouped in the basic financial

statements as follows:

Governmental Funds - accounts for expendable financial resources, other than proprietary fund types. Govemmental fund
types use the flow of current financial resources measurement focus. The major governmental funds consists of:

General Fund - The General Fund is the major operating fund of the Town. All unrestricted resources, except those
required to be accounted for in another fund, are accounted for In this fund. The general operallng expenses and fixed

charges are paid from this fund.

Special Revenue Fund - This fund Is used to account for the proceeds of speclfic revenue sources that are legally restricted
by contract or donor to expenditure for a specified purpose. These revenues include operating grants fro the State,
Federal and County Government for fire and rescue operations as well as donations to be used for specific purposes.

Froprietary Fund - accounts for operatlons that are financed and operated In a manner similar to private business enterprises.
The proprietary fund measurement focus Is on the flow of economic resources. Operating revenues include charges for
services and other revenue. Operating expenses include personal services, as well as other services and charges, materials

and supplies and depreclatlon. The proprietary fund type is:

Enterpﬁse Fund - Finances and accounis for the acqulsltion, operation, and maintenance of govemmental facllittes and
services that are supported by user charges. The operatlons of water and sewer facllities are accounted for and reported
in the Water and Sewer Fund.

In accordance with Govermmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financlal Reporiing
for Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Enfilies That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, the Town has elected to apply
only applicable FASB Statements and Interpretations Issued on or before November 30, 1988 that do not contradict GASB
pronouncements In its accounting and reporting practices for its proprietary operations.

Permanent Fund - Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only eamings, not
princlpal, may be used for purposes that supporn the reporting government's programs.

Cemetery fund - This fund |ls used to account for the operations of the cemetery and the perpetual care funds and relaied
interest Income.  The Interest portion of the trust can be used to maintain the community cemetery. On April 1, 2008 the
Town took cver control of the Town's cemetery from the Cemetery Corporation, The Town funds a portion of the
operational costs of the cemetery each year. For the year ended June 30, 2013 the operational and capltal support totaled

170,438,

Budget and Actual Comparison Staternent - This statement is presented to demonstrate whether resources were obtained and
used In accordance with the govemment's legally adopted budget. The Town may revise the criginal budget over the course
of the year for varlous reasons. Budgetary information continues to be provided, and includes a comparison of the
govemnment's original adopted budget to the current comparison of final budget and actual results.
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1L

Summary of Signiflcant Accounting Policies (continued)

C.

Basis of Accounting

Basis of accountlng refers to the polnt at which revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized In the accounts and
reported In the financial statements. Basls of accounting relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardiess of the

measurement focus applied.

Govermnmental activities in the government-wide statements are presented uslng the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financlal statements. Revenues are recognized when eamed
and expenses are recognized when a liabillty has been Incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Govemmental funds are accounted for using the modifled accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they
become measurable and available, General fund tax revenues are considered measurable when they have been levied. To
be consldered available, and thus susceptible to accrual, the taxes must be collected within the Town's period of availability of
45 days from the end of the current fiscal period. Uncoliected taxes at the end of this period are reported as deferred
revenues. Interest income and intergovermnmental recelvables are considered susceptible to accrual. Expenditures are
generally recognized under the modifled accrual basis of accounting when the related fund liability Is incurred. However, debt
service expenditures as well as expenditures related to compensated absences are recorded only when payment is due.

As a result of the different measurement focus and basis of accounting used in preparing the government-wide statements, a
reconclliation between the government-wide and fund financial statements s necessary. Exhibit D presents reconcillation of
the net assets as reported on the Statement of Net Assets (Exhiblt A) fo total governmental fund balance as reported on the
Balance Sheet - Governmenital Fund (Exhibit C). Exhibit F presents a reconciliation of change in net assets as reported on the
Statement of Activities {Exhibit B) and the total changes in fund balance as reported on the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Fund (Exhlbit E).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents Include cash on hand, certificates of deposit, demand deposits, and short-term investments with
original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Investments
Investments are stated at falr value.

Allowance for Uncoliectlble Taxes and Accounts Receivable

The Town calculates its allowance for uncollectible receivables based on historical collection data. At June 30, 2013, the
allowances for uncollectible taxes and accounts receivable were 5112,971 for the General Fund and $102,326 for the Enterprise

Fund.

Property Taxes

Property taxes are assessed at their value on January 1. Real estate tax is payable in one installment on December 5. On
January |, real property taxes become an enforceable lien against the property. Personal property tax is due on or before
December 5 during the year of assessment. The Town bills and coliects faxes and recognlzes revenue upon levy for
government-widé purposes. For the fund financial statements, the Town recognizes revenue to the extent that it results in

current recetvables.

The annual assessment for real estate Is based on 100% of the assessed fair market value. The {ax rates are established
annually, without limitation. The tax rate for real estate was $.1126 per $100 of assessed value for the year. The personal
property tax rate was $.45 per 5100 of assessed value for the year, In 1998, the Commonweaith enacted the Personal Property
Tax Relief Act. The Commonwealth share of the tax was 40.54% for flscal year 2013. Buslness fumiture, fixtures, and
machinery and tools taxes are assessed at a rate of 5.45 per $100 of assessed valuation.

Deferred Revenues

Deferred revenue consists primarily of grant awards received during the fiscal year but not recognized as revenue due to the
full award not being expended as of June 30, 2013.
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policles (continued)

L

Capital Assets

Capital assets acquired or constructed by the Town with a value in excess of $5.000 are reported in the applicable
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide flnanclal statements. Capltal assets belonging to the
proprietary fund are also reported in the applicable fund financlal statements. Capltal assets are recorded at historlcal cost or
estimated historical cost If purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at fair market value when received.
Depreclation is recorded on a straight-line basls over the estimated useful life of each capital asset. No depreciation expense
is recorded for land, constructicn-n-progress, or strects and highways.

The estimated useful ltves for capital assets are as foliows:

Land Improvements I5 years
Building and Improvements 25-50 years
Equipment and Vehicles 5-20 years
Infrastructure 1540 vears

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, the Town's infrastructure has been capitalized, retroaciively, upon adoption of the
standard.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets lives are not
capitalized.

Major outlays for capltal assets and improvements are capitallzed as projects are consiructed. Interest Incurred during the
construction phase of capiltal assets of business-type activities is included as part of the capitalized value of the assets
constructed. No interest expense was capitalized during the current year.

Estimates

Management uses estimates and assumptions In preparing Its financlal statements. Those estlmates and assumptions affect
the reported amounts of assets and llabilities, the disciosure of contingent llabilittes, and reported revenues, expenditures, and
expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-term debt and
other long-term obligatlons are reported as liabilitles In the applicable govemmental activities, business-type activities, or
proprietary fund-type statement of net assets. Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and

amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable
bond premium or discount. Bond Issuance costs are reported as deferred charges and amortized over the term of the related

debt.

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

The Town adheres to the following procedures In establishing the budgetary data reflected in the Budget and Actual
Comparison Statement {Exhibit G):

a. The Town Manager, In coordination with the Flnance Committee, prepares the budget and the Finance Commitiee
presents it to the Town Counclil.

by, Legal notlce of the public hearlng Is published In the newspaper at least 10 days prior to the hearing. Notlce contalns
information as to date, place, and time, and solicits cltizen attendance or written comments at the hearing with a synopsis

of the budget.

¢. The public hearlng Is held at least seven days (State Code 15.1-162 as amended) pricr to approval of the budget,

d. Budget is approved at least seven days after public hearing, and no later than the beginning of the new fiscal year. Council
sets tax rates for real estate and personal property,

e. Notice of budget adoptlon and avatlability for viewing of adopted budget Is published in a local newspaper one time, within
thirty (30) days of adoption.

f. The budget basls is adopted In accordance with the modifled accrual basis of accounting,
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

M,

Compensated Absences

It is the Town's policy 1o permit employees to accumulate earned but unused compensated absences. For government-wide
reporting, a llabllity is recorded for compensated absences when services are rendered and employees have earned the right
to recelve compensation for such services.

Town employees eam vacation and sick leave as follows:

Vacation:
« Twelve days per year for less than five full years of service
+ Fifteen days per year for more than five but less than ten full years of service
* Eighteen days per year for ten full years or more of service

Sick leave:
* One and cne-fourth days per month with unlimited accrual

Accumulated vacation leave Is pald upon termination with a maximum accumulation of 32 days. All sick leave is forfeited
upon termination unless terminatlon is deemed a retirement In accordance with VRS, After five years of smployment and
retirement from the Town the employee may recelve full or partia! payout of thelr sick leave, subject to limitations.

2. Compensated Absences

The Town's liability at June 30, 2013 for these compensated absences was:

Current Long-Term
Portion Portion Total
General Fund E] 69,571 S 626,141 s 695,712

Liabilitles for compensated absences are not liquidated untll leave is actually taken by employees or leave balances are paid
upon termination. The Town has estimated that 10% of the compensated absences balance can be liquidaied with
expendable available resources, and are considered a current llabllity, Both current and non-current portions of compensated
absences totaling $695,712 are recorded for governmental activities in the govemment-wide statements and represent a
reconciling item between the government-wide and fund presentations.

Compensated absences earned by employees and charged to the proprietary fund are expensed and accrued as a liability
when Incurred. At June 30, 2013, the liabllitles for compensated absences of the enterprise fund were $105.217.

3. Deposits and Investments

Depaosits

Deposits with banks are covered by the Federal Deposlit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and coliateralized in accordance with
the Virginta Security for Public Deposits Act {the "Act") Section 2.24400 et. seq. of the Code of Virginia. Under the Act, banks
and savings instltutlons holding publlc depesits in excess of the amount insured by the FDIC must pledge collateral to the
Commonwealth of Virginia Treasury Board. Financlal Institutions may choose between two collateralization methodologies
and depending upon that choice, will pledge collateral that ranges In the amounts from 50% to 130% of excess deposiis.
Accordingly, ail deposits are consldered fully collaterallzed.

At year end, the carrying value of the Town's deposits with banks and savings Institutions was $18,760,771. Of the Town's
bank balances, $18,760,771 was covered by Federal depository insurance or collateralized as required by the Virginla Security
for Public Deposit Accounis.

Investments

Town and State statute (Code of Virginla, Chapter 3, Title 26) authorize local governments and other public bodies to invest in
obligations of the Unilted States or agencies thereof. obligations of the Commonwealth of virginia or political subdivisions
thereof, obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (World Bank), the Aslan Development Bank,
the African Development Bank, 'prime quallty® commercial paper and certain corporate notes; bankers' acceptances,
repurchase agreements and the Siate Treasurer's Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP).

The Town currently invests it funds only In banks located within the Town of Christiansburg and investments are limited to
certificates of deposit and money market funds as summarized below:

Investment Type Fair Value
Centificates of Deposlt 5 5,069,673
Money Market S 6,464,517

Total Investments S 11,534,100
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Deposlits and Investments (continued)
Specific risks for these investments are summarized below:
Credit Risk - Funds are deposited with local banks in good standing.

Concentrations of Credit Risk - Town pollcy does not set a limit on the amount that may be Invested in any single
Institution but Investments and deposits are monitored for such risks.

Interest Raie Risk- As a means of limiting exposure to fair value losses resulting from Increasing or decreasing interest
rates, maturities and other accounts are monltored and rebid for possible Improvement in rates.

Recelvables

Receivables as of June 30, 2013 consisted of the followlng:

Governmental Activitles:

Special

Recelvables General Revenue Totals
Taxes % 2,361,039 s - 5 2,361,039
Due from Govemment ' 263,540 141,616 405,156
ACCOUNnts 094,041 - 994,041
Gross Recelvables 3,618,620 141,616 3,760,236
Less: Allowance for Doubtful Accounts {112,971) - {112,971
Receivabies, net $ 3,505,648 $ 141,616 5 3,647,265

Business-type Activities:

Recetvables Water & Sewer
Accounts 1,226,662
Less: Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (102,326)

Receivables, net S 1,124,336

The taxes receivable account is largely comprised of the current and prior five years of uncollected tax levies for personal
property, and the current and past nineteen years of uncollected real estate tax levies. The collectabllity of these accounts has

been considered In the allowance for uncollectibie accounts.

Interfund Recelvables, Payables and Transfers

Interfund transfers consist of the following at June 30, 2013:

Transfers in:
Speclal Permanent
Water & Sewer Revenue {Cemetery)
Fund Fund Fund
Transfer out:
General Fund 5 - 8 552,308 § 170,438
Amounts due from/to other funds consist of the following at June 30, 2013:
Due from:
Specilal
Water & Sewer Revenue General
Fund Fund - Fund
Due to: :
General Fund s - ] 451,821 § -
Cemetery Fund - - 30,601
Enterprise Fund - - 626,574
] - 8 451,821 § 637,265

The primary purpose of the due from/o amounts is as follows:

- Amounts due to the general fund represent short-term Interfund advances for operating or capital needs.
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6. Due from Other Governmental Unlts

Amounts due from other governmental units at June 30, 2013 are as follows:

Governmental
Actlvities
Federal grants - direct ] 29,861
Commonwealth of Virginta grants 115,274
{includes federal pass-through awards)
Other:;
Sales tax 260,021

$ 405,156

7. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as foliows:

Balance Balance
Governmental Actlvitles July 1, 2012 Increases Decreases  June 30, 2013
ltal Assets, not ated:
Land 5 2698628 S 2668841 S - 5 5,367,460
Construction in Progress 308,209 121,605 - 429,814
Total Capltal Assels, not depreclated 3,006,837 2,790,446 - 5,797,283
Capital 1 reclated:
Buildings and Structures 28,707,395 332,025 - 29,040,321
Accumulated Depreciation (3,056,416) (598,831) - (3,655,247}
Net Buildings and Structures 25,650,979 (265,806) - 25,385,074
Infrastructure 3,319,338 293,727 - 3,613,065
Accumulated Depreclation (2,054,112) (81,371} (2,135,483)
Net Infrastructure 1,265,226 212,356 - 1,477,581
Machinery and Equipment 12,775,232 004,316 - 13,679,548
Accumulated Depreciation {10,165,485) (510,935) {10,676,420)
Net Machinery and Equipment 2,600,747 393,381 - 3,003,128
Land Improvements 2,257,917 - - 2,257.917
Accumulated Depreciation {545,085} (150,528) (695,613}
Net Land iImprovements 1,712,832 (150,528) - 1,562,304
Vehicles 3.238,637 858,018 (88,931} 4,007,724
Accumulated Deprectation (2,558,024) (261,169) 78,433 (2,740,760)
Net Vehicles 680,613 596,849 (10,497) 1,266,965
Streets and Highways 76,369,171 979,663 - 77,348,834
Accumulated Depreclatlon (3.818,459) (3.867,442) (7,.685,900)
Net Streets and Highways 72,550,712 (2,887,779) 60,662,934
Bond lssue Cost 176,814 176,814
Accumulated Amortlzation (44,695) (5.804) (50,589)
Net Bond Issue Cost 132,119 (5.894) - 126,225
Total Capital Assets Belng Depreciated 126,844,504 3,368,649 (BB,931) 130,124,222
Less: Accumulated Depreclaticn
and Amortization (22,242,276) (5,476,169} 78,433 (27.640,012)
Net Total Capltal Assets, depreciated 104,602,228 (2.,107,520) (10,498) 102,484,211
Governmental Activities, Capital Assets, Net 5 107,609,065 § 682,026 S (20.,995) S108,281,494
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7. Capital Assets (continued)

Balance Balance

Business-| viti July 1, 2012 Increases Decreases  June 30, 2013

Capital Assets, not depreciated:
Land S 12,500 S - 5 - $ 12,500
Total Capltal Assats, not depreciated 12,500 - - 12,500

Capiltal Assets, depreciated:

Water System 12,461,519 526,211 - 12,887,730
Accumulated Depreciation (4,405,704) (317,200) - (4,722,904)
Net Walter System 8,055,815 208,011 - 8,264,826
Water and Waste Water Equipment 3,473.85] 58,151 - 3,532,002
Accumulated Depreciation (2.720,013) {124,785} - {2,845 ,608)
Net water and Waste Water Equipment 752,938 (66,634) - 686,304
Wwaste water System 17,673,902 151,963 - 17,825,865
Accumulated Depreciation (6,201,962) (438,729) - {6.640,691)
Net Waste Water System 11,471,940 (286,766) - 11,185,174
Waste Water Treatment Plant 32,145,274 35,364 - 32,180,638
Accumulated Depreciation {13,007,104} {763,230) - {13,770,343)
Net Wasie Water Treatment Plant © 19,138,170 (727,875) . 18,410,295
Total Capiltal Assets, Depreciated 65,754.546 771,689 - 66,526,235
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (26.335,683) (1,643,954} - (27.979.637)
Net Total Capital Assets, depreclated 39,418,863 (872,265} - 38,546,509
Business-type Activities, Capltal Assets, Net $ 39431363 S {(872,265) S - § 38,558,099

Depreciation and Amonlzation expense were charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

Govemmental activities:

General Governmeni Administration 5 94,086
Public Safety 487,479
Public Works 4,150,207
Parks, Recreatlon, and Culture 733,461
Community Development 10,846

S 5476160

Business-type actlvities:
Water and Sewer S5 1,643,954

Amortization expense for bond issuance costs in the amount of $5,804 is included in the total for Parks, Recreation, and
Culture.

8. Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represenis amounis for which asset recognition criteria have been met, but for which revenue recognition
criteria have not been met. Deferred revenue as reported in the govemmental fund financlal statements at June 30, 2012

consisted of the following:

Speclal General
Revenue Fund Fund
Grant revenue ) 4,778 5 .
Prepaid Taxes s - ] 2,107
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9. Long-Term Liabllities

General obligation notes are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the Town. The charter of the Town of
Christiansburg limits the legal debit to 10% of the assessed valuation of real estate within the Town limlts. The Town's iegal

debt margin at June 30, 2013 is $189,617,214 (see Schedule 13 of Statistlcal Section).

The following s a summary of existing long-term llabilities and the changes in those liabilitles during the year:

Balance Balance Due Within
Govermnmental Activitles July 1, 2012 Additions Reductions _ June 30, 2013 One Year
General Obligation Debt:
2007 Revenue Bond 5 1,710,000 § - 8 75000 5 1635000 S 75,000
20048 Revenue Bond 9,595,000 - 255,000 9,340,000 265,000
1995 General Obligation Note 780,000 - 245,000 535,000 260,000
Total General Obligatton Debt 12,085,000 - 575,000 11,510,000 600,000
Compensated Absences Payable from the
Governmental Funds 637,096 505,350 447,634 695,712 69,571
Landfill Closure & Postclosure Care Cost 134,367 - 9,553 124,814
Bond Premiums 60,734 4,049 56,685
Merli/sick pay (OPEB) payable 255,107 04 889 - 340,006
Total Governmental Activities, long-term debt: § 13,173,204 § 600,239 $ 1036236 S 12,737,207 § 669,57)
Balance Balance Due Wlthin
Buslness-type Activities July 1, 2012 Additions Reductions  June 30, 2013 Oone Year
2001 VA Revolving Loan Fund S 5572974 § - 5 536818 § 5,036,155 § 555,772
1988 VA Revolving Loan Fund 1,105,466 - 167,779 937,687 174,045
Total 5,678,440 - 704,508 5,073,842 729,817
Compensated Absences Payabile from the
Water and Sewer Fund 112,845 87,281 94,509 105,217 10,521
Total Business-Type Activities, long-term debt: 5 6,791,285 § 87281 § 799,507 S 6,079.059 $ 740,338
Long-term Liabllitles of the Town at June 30, 2013 are comprised of the following Issues:
§11,185,000 revenue bond issued December 15, 2004, maturing annually with principal and
interest payable semi-annually through August 1, 2034; Interest rate varles, currently at 4.00% , 5 9,340,000
$1,970,000 revenue bond issued July 30, 2007, maturing annuaily with principal and Interest
payable semi-annualty through August I, 2027; interest rate varies, currently at 4.50% . 1,635,000
$3,500.000 public improvement bonds issued December 1, 1995, maturing annually with Interest
payable semiannually through February 1, 2015; interest rate varies, currently at 5.00% . 535,000
52,800,000 (1998) VA Revolving Loan Fund. The Loan was refinanced on Junc 1, 2006 at
3.70% , with seml-annual payments of princlpal and interest in the amount of $103,572 on June |
and December 1. Final payment 15 due June 1, 2018. 037.687
$10,311,000 (200]) VA Revolving Loan Fund. The Loan wlll be financed over 20 years at 3.50%
with seml-annual payments of principal and interest In the amount of $367,010 on September |
and March 1. Final payment Is due March 1, 2021, 5.036.155
Total General Obligations and VA Revolving Loans 17,483,842
Compensated Absences Payable 800,929
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Cost Payabie 124814
Bond Premiums 56,685
Service Merit (OPEB) payable 340,006
Total Primary Government, long-term liabllities 5 18,816,266
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9, Long-Term Liabilities (continued)

The annual requirements to amortize governmental activities debt outstanding as of June 30, 2013 are as follows:

Fiscal 2007 Revenue Bond 2004 Revenue Bond 1085 General Obligation Total
Year Principal Interest Principal Interesi Princlpal Interest Principal Interest
2014 75,000 79,688 265,000 403,700 260,000 26,750 600,000 510,138
2015 803,000 76,000 275,000 392,900 275,000 13,750 630,000 482,650
2016 85,000 71,875 285,000 381,700 - 370,000 453,575
2017 90,000 67,500 295,000 370100 - - 385,000 437,600
2018 90,000 63,000 310,000 358,000 400,000 421,000
2019 95,000 57.375 320,000 345,400 ¢ - 415,000 402,775
2020 100,000 53,500 335,000 332,300 4 - 435,000 385,800
2021 105,000 48,375 345,000 318,528 - 450,000 366,903
2022 110,000 43,000 360,000 304,030 470,000 347.030
2023-27 655,000 122,375 2,060,000 1,268,510 2,715,000 1,390,885
2028-32 150,000 3,750 2,605,000 750,613 s 2,755,000 754,363
2033-34 - - 1,885,000 139,424 - - 1.BB5,000 138,424
Total $ 1,635,000 § 686438 $ 9340000 S5 5365204 S 535000 S 40,500 S5 11,510,000 5 6,002,142

The followlng general obligation debt and VA revolving loans are Issued to support business-type activities. The annual
requlrements to amortize buslness-type activities debt outstanding as of June 30, 2013 are as follows:

Fiscal 2001 VA Revolving Loan 1998 VA Revolving Loan Total

Year Principat Interest Principal Interest Princlpal Interest
2014 555,772 171,445 174,045 33,099 729,817 204 544
2015 575,395 151,823 180,544 26,600 755,839 178,423
2016 565,709 131,507 187,286 19,858 782,995 151,365
2017 616,742 110,475 194,279 12,865 811,021 123,340
2018 638,516 88,700 201,533 5,610 840,049 94,310
2019 661,060 66,156 661,060 66,156
2020 684,399 42,817 . - 684,300 42,817
2021 708,562 18,654 - - 708,562 : 18.654
Total $ 5036,155 $ 781,577 $ 037,687 $ 98,032 S 5973842 5 B79,600

The allocation of long-term debt to the General Fund or the Water and Sewer Fund is determined based on the Town's
intention for repayment of the debt. A summary of the allocation of debt Issued Is as follows:

Water & Sewer General

Fund Fund Total

Bonds:
1995 Public Improvement Bonds $ s 535000 S 535,000
2004B Revenue 9,340,000 9,340,000
2007 Revenue 1,635,000 1,635,000

Loans;
2001 VA Revolving Loan 5,036,155 - 5,036,155
1998 VA Revolving Loan 937,687 - 037,687
Landfill Closure & Posiclosure Care Cost 124 814 124 814
Compensated Absences 105,217 695,712 800,929
Bond Premlums 56,685 56,685
Service Merit (OPEB) payable - 340,006 349,006
Total 5 6,079,050 5 12,737,207 5 18,816,266
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10. Fund Balances

Fund batance Is classifled as nonspendabie, restricted, commitied, assigned and/or unassigned based primarily on the extent to
which the Town is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of resources in the governmental funds. The constraints
placed on the general fund balance and other governmental funds balance are presented below:

General Special Revenue Cemelery
Fund Fund Fund Totals
Nonspendable;
Perpetual Care ] - 5 s 433,263 5 433,263
- Prepaid items 85,792 ] 85,792
Restricted for:
Law Enforcement 33,408 33,408
Fire Department 478,104 ; 478,104
Lifesaving-Rescue Squad : 422,114 - 422,114
Parks and Recreation - Knowles Estate 803,492 3 803,402
Committed -
Assigned;
Fire and Lifesaving 2,143,001 2,143,091
Public Works 607,085 607,085
General Adminlistration 162,453 - 162,453
Parks and Recreation 201,670 - 201,670
Unassigned 12,060,646 - (2,315) 12,058,331
Total fund balances at June 30, 2013 5 15.260,737 & 1,737,118 5§ 430,948 517,428,803
11. Detined Benefit Penslon Plan
Al Plan Description
Namé of Plan: Virginia Retlrement System (VRS)
Identification of Plan: Agent and Cost-sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit
Adminisiering Agent: Virginla Retirement System (System}

All fuiltime, salaried permanen: (professional) employees of participating employers are automatically covered by VRS upon
employment. Beneflts vest after flve years of service credit. Members eam one month of service credit for each month they
are employed and their employer is paying Into the VRS, Members are eligible 10 purchase prior public service, active duty
military service, certain perlods of leave and previously refunded VRS service as credlt in their plan.

VRS administers two defined beneflt plans for local government employees - Plan 1 and Plan 2:

Members hired before July 1, 2010 and who have service credits before July 1, 2010 are covered under Plan 1. Non-
hazardous duty members are eligible for an unreduced retirement benefit beginning at age 65 with at least five years of
service credit or age 50 with at least 30 years of service credit. They may retire with a reduced beneflt early age 55 with at
least five years of service credit or age 50 with at least ten years of service credit.

Members hired or rehlred on or after July 1, 2010 and who have no service credits before July 1, 2010 are covered under
Plan 2, Non-hazardous duty members are eliglble for an unreduced benefit beglnning at thelr normal Soctal Security
retirement age with at least flve years of service credit or when the sum of thelr age and service equals 90, They may
retire with a reduced benefit as carly as age 60 with at least five years of service credit.

Eligible hazardous duty members in Plan 1 and Plan 2 are eligible for an unreduced benefit beginning at age 60 with at
least 5 years of service credit or age 50 with at least 25 years of service credit. These members include, sherlffs, deputy
sherlffs and hazardous duty employvees of political subdivisions that have elected to provide enhanced coverage for
hazardous duty service, They may retire with a reduced beneflt as early as age 50 with at least five years of service credit.
All other provisions of the member's plan apply.

The VRS Baslc Benetlt Is a lifetime monthly benefit based on a retirement multiplier as a percentage of the member's average
final compensation multiplled by the member's total service credit. Under Plan 1, average final compensatlon is the average of
the member's 36 consecutive months of highest compensation. Under Plan 2, average final compensation is the average of
the member's 60 consecuitive months of highest compensatlon, The retirernent multiplier for non-hazardous duty members Is
1.70% . for plan | and 1.65% for plan 2 employees. At refirement, members can elect the Basic Benefit, the Survivor Option, a
Partlal Lump-Sum Option Payment (PLOP) or the Advance Penslon Option. A retirement reduction factor is applied to the Basic
Beneflt amount for members electing the Survivor Optlon, PLOP or Advance Penslon Option or those retiring with a reduced

benefit,
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11. Deflned Beneflt Penslon Plan {continued)

A

Plan Description (contlnued)

Plan 1 retirees are eligible for an annual cost-ofliving adjustment (COLA) effective July 1 of the second calendar year of
retitrement. Under Pian 1, the COLA cannot exceed 5.00% ; under Plan 2, the COLA cannot exceed 3.00% . Durlng years of no
inflation or deflation, the COLA Is 0.00%. The VRS also provides death and disabillty beneflts, Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia
(1930), as amended, assigns the authority to establish and amend beneflt provisions to the General Assembity of Virginia,

The Systern issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that Includes financial statements and required
supplementary " information for VRS. A copy of the most recent report may be downloaded from thelr web slte at

httg:f!www.va-rctlrc.o.:g!Pdf/PubllcaﬂonsrzglZ-Anm;al-RQQ_Qnmt or obtalned by writing to the System at P.O. Box 2500,

Richmond, VA 23218-2500,

Funding Policy

Plan members are required by Title 51.1 of the Code of Virdinia (1950}, as amended, to contribute 5.00% of their compensation
toward thelr retirement. In addition, the Town is required to contribute the remaining amounts necessary to fund its
participation in the VRS using the actuarial basis specified by the Code of Virginia and approved by the VRS Board of
Trusiees. The Town's contribution rate for the flscal year ended 2013 was 18.04% of annual covered payroll (5% from the
employee and 13.04% from the employer).

Annual Penslon Cost

For flscal year 2013, the Town's annual pension cost of 51,865,433 was equal to thelr required and actual contributions.

Three-Year Trend Information
Annual Percentage
Pension of APC
i Year Endin, Cost (APC) Coniributed
June 30, 2011 ] 1,430,452 100.00% 5
June 30, 2012 5 1,501,056 100.00% 5
June 30, 2013 $ 1863433 100.00% $

Net Penslon
Obligation

The fiscal year 2013 required contributlon was determined as parn of the June 30, 2011 actuarial valuation using the entry age
actuarial cost method. The actuarial assumptions at June 30, 20l] included (@) an investment raie of return (net of
administrative expenses} of 7.00%, (b) projected salary increases ranging from 3.75% to 5.60% per year for general
government employees and 3.50% to 4.75% for employees eliglble for enhanced beneflts avallable to law enforcement
offlcers, firefighters, and shendffs, and (¢} a cost-of-llving adjustment of 2.50% per year. Both the Investment rate of return and
the projected salary increases Include an inflation compenent of 2.50% . The actuarial value of the Town of Christiansburg's
assets Is equal to the modified market value of assets. This method uses techniques that smooth the effects of short-term
volatility In the market value of assets over a ftve-year perlod. The Authorlty’s unfunded actuarlal accrued liabllity 1s being
amortized as a level percentage of projected payrolls. on an open basls, The remaining arortization perlod at June 30, 2011
for the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liabllity (UAAL) was 30 years.

Funded Status and Funding Progress

As of June 30, 2012, the most recent actuarlal valuation date, the plan was 64.76% funded, The actuarlal accrued Habtlity for
beneflts was 535,488,525, and the actuarial value of assets was 522,983,831, resulting in an unfunded actuarlal accrued
liability (UAAL) of 512,5804.694. The covered payroll (annual payroll of acitve employees covered by the plan) was 59,851,855,
and ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 126.93%. The 'schedule of funding progress. presented as Required
Supplementary Informatlon followlng the notes to the financlal statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether
the actuarial value of plan assets Is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarlal accrued llability (AAL) for

benefits.

12, Sick Leave Divestiture Plan (Deflned Benefit Penslon Plan)

A,

Plan Description

Narne of Plan:
Identification of Plan:

Administering Agent:

Sick Leave Divestiture Plan
Single Employer

Town of Christiansburg

39




TOWN OF CHRISTIAN! G

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

12, Sick Leave Divestiture Plan (Defined Benefit Pension Plan) (continued)

A, Plan Description (continued)
Sick-Leave Divestiture at retirement. Employees retifing in accordance with VRS guldelines and who have at least flve (5}
years of service with the Town of Christlansburg are eligible to take payment of accrued sick leave payable directly to them
with ihe following options (dependent upon time of service):
1. Employees retiring that have a minimum of five (5) years of service may withdraw 25% of thelr accrued sick leave up toa
maximum of $10,000 (taxable),
2. Employees hired on or before June 30, 2011, who retire Immediately upon separation from the Town with a minimum of
twenty (20} years of service and who are retiing In accordance with VRS guldelines, may take their total accrued sick leave
In 120 monthly payments (l.e.; 10 years), subject to applicable Federal and State taxes. The value of the accrued sick leave
for payout will be calculated at an hourly rate using the VRS Average Flnal Compensation computatlon. if the retiree
becomes deceased during the payout peried, the payouts cease and are non-transferable.
B. Funding Policy
The plan is a pay-as-you-go system, with the Town annually funding and paying the benefits to the members,
C. Annual Pension Cost
For fiscal year 2013, the Town's annual penslcn cost for this plan was 5183,204 which was $82,038 less than their required
and actual contributions of $101,256
Net Pension Obligation
Annual $ 183,204
NO, beginning of vear 184,641
Interest on NO 7.386
ARC Adjustment 7.538
Annual Expense 183,142
Employer Payments 101,256
Net Obligation 6/30/2013 $ 266,527
Three-Year Trend Information
Annual Percentage
Pension of APC Net Penslon
Fiscal Year Endlng Cost (APC) Contributed Obligation
June 30, 2011 5 138,218 69.63% $ 132,217
June 30, 2012 -] 138,219 75.90% S 184,641
June 30, 2013 s 183,294 55.24% 5 266,527
The fiscal year 2013 required coniribution was determined as part of the June 30, 2013 actuarial valuation using the unlt credit
cost methed, The actuarial assumptions at June 30, 2013 included (a) an investment rate of return (net of admilnistrative
expenses) of 4.00% , (b) projected salary Increases ranging from 3.50% per year for general government employees and 3.50%
for employees eliglble for enhanced benefits available to law enforcement officers, firefighters, and sheriffs, and (c) a cost-oi-
living adjustment of 3.50% per year. Both the Investment rate of return and the projected salary Increases include an inflation
component of 2.50%. The remaining amortization period.at June 30, 2013 for the Unfunded Actuaral Accrued Liability
(UAAL) was 26 years. As of June 30, 2013, the plan remains unfunded.
D. Funded Status and Funding Progress

As of June 30, 2013, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was unfunded. The actuarlal accrued liabtlty for
benefits was 51,498,425 and the actuarial value of assets was $-0-, resulting in an unfunded actuarlal accrued llability (UAAL) of
51,498,425, The 2013 covered payroll {annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan} was 510,340,536 and the ratio
of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 17.63% .

13. Risk Management

The Town is exposed to varlous risks of loss related to the following: toris, theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omisslons; injuries 1o employees; and natural disasters. The Town risk management programs are as follows:

Workers' Compensation - Workers' compensation insurance is provided through the Virginia Municipal Self Insurance
Assoclation, During 2012-2013, total premiums pald were $639,880. Benefits are those afforded through the State of Virglnia as
outlined In the Code of Virginia Section 65.2-100; premiums are based on covered payroll, job rates and claims history.
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13. Risk Management (continued)

General Liabilify and Other - The Town has general liability, automobile liabllity, property, arnd public officials liability insurance
through the Virginla Municipal Liabillty Pool. Boller and machinery coverade and property Insurance are covered as per
statement of values. Total premiums for 2012-2013 were $367,210,

Healthcare - The Town provides health insurance coverage for ernployees through commercial insurance policles.
Employees' spouses and dependents may also be covered provided they pay for part of the premium cost. During the year,
the Town pald $1,505,706 In healthcare premiums.

Other - There were no significant reductions In insurance coverage from the prior year and no settlements that exceeded the
amount of insurance coverage during the last three fiscal years.

All Town employees are covered by a blanket bond in the amount of $10,000. Additionally, the Treasurer and Town Manager
are covered by surety bonds in the amount of $100,000 each. The surety Is Unlted States Fidellty and Guaranty.

Intergovernmental dependency - The town depends on financial resources flowing from, or associated with, both the federal
govermnment and the State of Virginia. Because of this dependency, the Town is subject to changes In specific flows of
intergovernmental revenues based on modifications to federal and state laws and federal and state appropriations. 1t is also
subject to changes In investment earnings and asset values assoclated with U.S. Treasury securities because of actions by
foreign govemments and other holders of publicly held U.S. Treasury securities,

During the flscal year ended June 30, 2013 the Town recelved direct funding from the federal and state government as follows:

Law Enforcement funds 5 416,572
Street Maintenance Funds 2,004,653
Sales Tax 1,589,154
Non-Categorical State Aid 1,333,193
Federal and State Granits 502,324

% 6925806

14, Contributed Capital

The contributed capital account of the Enterprise Fund increased from $19,330,057 io $19,376,028 in 2012-2013 due to
contributed capltal - grants In ald of construction of $45,971.

The contributed capital account of the General Fund on the Statement of Actlvities for GASB Statement No. 34 purposes
includes the roads given to the Town by developers for the Town to maintaln. No new roads were given to the town from
developers during the year ended June 30, 2013.

15, Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

In FY 1098, the Town adopted GASB Statement No. 18, Accounting for Municipal Solid waste Landfill Closure and Postclosure
Care Costs. State and federal laws and regulations requilre the Town to place a final cover on its landflll site, as well as other
sites opened In the future when they stop accepting waste, and to perform certain maintenance and monltoring functions at
the sltes for thirty vears after closure. Although closure and postclosure care cost will be pald only near or after the date that
the landfill stops accepting waste, GASB No. 18 requires that the Town record a portion of these closure and posiclosure care
costs as a long-term liability In each perlod based on landflll capacity used as of each balance sheet date. The 5124,814
liabtlity for landfill closure and postclosure care cost at June 30, 2013 represents the estimated labllity based on the usage of
100% of the esttimated capacity of the landiil. The Town will recognlze the remaining estimated cost of closure and
postclosure care as costs are incurred.

The llabllity accrued at June 30, 2013 is based on what it would cost to perform all closure and postclosure care in 2013,
Actual cost may differ from this estimate due to Inflation, changes in technology or changes in regulation.
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16. Postemployment Beneflts other than Pension Beneflts

In the fiscal year 2009, the Town adopted GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Penslons. The statement was issued to provide more complete, reliable, and decision-
useful financlal reporting regarding the costs and financial obligations that governments Incur when they provide
postemployment benefits other than pensions as part of the compensation for services rendered by their employees. The
statement will provide better iInformation to users about the govemment's unfunded actuarial accrued llabilities (the difference
between the Town's total obligation for OPEB and any assets set aside for flnancing the benefits) and changes in the funded
status of the benefits over time. The llability is based on an actuarial valuation performed by a third-party every two years. The
fiscal year 2013 required contribution was determined as part of the June 30, 2013 actuarial valuation using the unlt credit cost
method. The actuarial assumptions at June 30, 2013 Included {a) an investment rate of return (net of administrative EXPENSEes)
of 4.00%, (b) projected salary increases ranging from 3.50% per year for general government employees and 3.50% for
employees eligible for enhanced benefits available to law enforcement officers, fireflghters, and sherlffs, and (c) a cost-of-living
adjustment of 3.50% per year. Both the investment rate of retumn and the projected salary Increases Inciude an inflation
component of 2.50%. The remalning amortization period at June 30, 2013 for the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability
(UAAL) was 26 years. As of June 30, 2013, the plan remains unfunded, The fotal unfunded accrued liability at June 30, 2013 s
$1,623,052 based on the June 30, 2013 valuation. The govemment-wide financial statements reflect the portion of the liability,
The Town's plan Is a pay-as-you go system. The annual requiréd contribution per the actuarial vatuation is $196,300. During
the flscal year the Town pald out benefits of $50,130. The Net Other Post Empioyment (OPEB) obligation at June 30, 2013 is
$401,067. The town currently intends to contlnue to fund these benefits annually as they become due on a Pay-as-you-go

syslem.

Net OPEB Obligation:

Annual Required Condribution s 196,300
NOO, beginning of vear 255,107
Interest on NGO 10,204
ARC adjustment 10,415
Annual OPEB expense 196,000
Employer Payments 50,130
Net OPEB Obligation 6/30/2013 ] 401,067

Three-Year Trend Information

Annual Percentage

Pension of APC Net Pension
Fi ear Endin Cost (APC) Contributed Obligation
June 30, 2011 ] 138,732 31.51% 5§ 160,218
June 30, 2012 5 138,732 31.51% 5 255,107
June 30, 2013 5 196,300 28.53% S 401,067

The descriptlon of the retirement service merit plan Is as follows:

Town-Sponsored Sgrvice Metlt; An employee retiring under VRS and who has at least 20 years of service to the Town Is
eligible for payment of ten dollars {$10) per month for each year of service (as determined by Councll with each budget year).
Until age 65 or upon Medicare eligibility, whichever occurs first, the employee's Town Sponsored Service Merit payment turns
to a flat $100/month. These payments are placed into the Retirement Health Savings for the employee's use toward medlcal

expenses atter retlrement,

17. Contingency

In October 2002, the Town of Chrlstiansburg received a loan/grant for $675,000 from the Virginla Department of Housing and
Community Development for the construction of low income houslng for low income at risk youths, The facility, Tekoa Boys
Home, was to be bullt, run and maintained by Community Housing Partners Inc. (CHP). The loan is secured by this facillty and
will be forgiven at the end of a 20 ysar term provided that the original purpose continues to be met. In the event that CHP
defaults on the terms of the grantfloan, the funds must be repald to the Virginia Department of Housing and Community
Development and the Town is contingently llable for that repayment.  Durlng 2010 the home was converted to other uses and
the Virginia Department of Houslng and Community Development has approved that change stating that “it is a reasonabie
replacement for the originally intended use”,

18. New Accounting Standards

GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus - an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34,
modifies certain reguirements for inclusion of component unfis in the financial reporting enfity. For ordanizations that
previpusly were required to be Included as component units by meeting the fiscal dependency crlierion, a financlal benefit or
burden relationship also would need to be present to be included as a component unlt. The statement also amends the
criteria for reporting of blended component units, For component units that are blended based on the “substantively the same
governing body" criterion, it additlonaily requires that a financlal benefit or financial burden relationship exist or management of
the primary govermnment have operational responsibility for the activities of the compeonent unit. The statement also clarifies the
reporting of equity Interests in legally separate organizations, It requires a primary government to report Its equity interest in g
component unit as an asset, This statement will be effective for the year ending June 30, 2013,
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18, New Accountlng Standards (cohﬁnued)

GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred inflow of Resources, and Net
Posltion, is Intended to improve financial reperting by standardizing the presentation of deferred oufflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources and thelr effects on a govemment's net position. It alleviates uncertainty about reporting those
financial statement eiements by providing guldance where none previously existed. This statement became effective for fiscal
perlods beginning on or after December 15, 2011,

GASB Statement No. 65, lems Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities, reclassifies certaln items cumrrently being reported
as assets and liabilities as deferred outflows of resources and deferred Inflows of resources. In addition, this Statement
recognizes certain items currently being reported as assets and liabllities as outflows of resources and inflows of resources.
GASB Concepts Statement No. 4, Elements of Financial Statements, specifies that recognition of deferred outflows and
deferred inflows should be limited to those Instances specifically ldentified in authoritative GASB pronouncements.
Consequently, guidance was needed to determine which balances belng reported as assets and liabilities should actually be
reported as deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources, according to the definitions In Concepts
Statement 4. This statement Is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2011,

GASB Statement No, 66, Technical Corrections - 2012, amends Statement No. 10, Accounting and Financlal Reporting for Risk
Flnancing and Related Insurance lssues, by removing the provision that limits fund-based reporting of a state and local
government's rlsk financing activitles to the general fund and the internal service fund type., As a result, governments would
hase their decisions about governmental fund type usage for risk flnancing actlvities on the deflnitions in Statement No. 54,
Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions. This statement Is effective for fiscal perlods beglnning after

December 15, 2012,

This Statement also amends Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained In Pre-
November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, by modifylng the speclflc guidance on accounting for {I) operating
lease payments that vary from a straightline basis, (2) the difference between the initlal investment {purchase ptice) and the
principal amount of a purchased loan or group of loans, and (3) servicing fees related to morigage loans that are sold when the
stated service fee rate differs signlficantly from a current (normal} servicing fee rate. These changes would ellminate any
uncertainty regarding the application of Statement No. 13, Accounting for Operating Leases with Scheduled Rent Increases,
and result In guidance that is consistent with the requirements in Statement No. 48, Sales and Pledges of Receivables and
Future Revenues and intra-Entlty Transfers of Assets and Future Revenues, respectively. This statement Is effective for fiscal
periods beginning after Decemeber 15, 2011

GASB Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Penslon Plans, replaces the requirements of Statement No. 25, Financial
Reporting for Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Note Disclosures for Defined Contribution Plans and Statement No. 50 as they
relate to penslon plans that are administered through trusts or similar arrangements meeting certain criteria. The Statement
builds upon the exlsting framewotk for financial reports of defined beneflt pension plans, which includes a statement of
fiduclary net position (the amount held in a trust for paying retirement benefits) and a statement of changes in fiduciary net
position. Statement 67 enhances note disclosures and RSI for both defined beneiit and defined contribution penslon plans.
Statement 67 alsc reguires the presentation of new Information about annual money-welghted rates of return in the notes to
the financial statements and in 10-year RS] schedules. This statement will be effective for the year ending June 30, 2015.

GASB Statement No, 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, replaces the requirements of Statement No. 27,
Accounting for Penslons by State and Local Governmental Employers and Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures, as they
relate to governments that provide pensions through pension plans administered as trusts or similar arrangements that meet
certain criterla, Statement 68 requires governments providing defined benefit pensions to recognize their long-term obligation
for pension benefits as a llabillty for the first time, and to more comprehensively and comparably measure the annual costs of
pension benefits. The Statement also enhances accountability and transparency through revised and new note disclosures
and required supplementary information (RSI). This statement is effective for fiscal period financlal statements beginning after

June 15, 2014.

19. Subsequeni Events

In preparing these financial statements, the Organlzation has evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or
disclosure through November 20, 2013, the date the financial statements were available to be Issued.

On July 23, 2013 The Town of Christlansburg did an advance refunding of the 2004B revenue bond issued for the construction
of the Aquatics center. The advance refunding was for $9,38[,100. (The origlnal financing of the 2004B revenue bond was
for 511,185,000} The fotal refinancing is for $10 million doliars which Includes the refunding and an additional $606,000 for

financing of 2014 capital projects.
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Statistical Section

This part of the Town of Christiansburg Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
presents detailed inforrmation as a context for understanding what the information the
financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information says
about the Town's overall financial health.

contents Page
Financial Trends These schedules contain trend information to 48-53

help the reader understand how the Town's
financial performance and wellbeing have
changed over time. Schedules | to 6

Revenue Capacity These schedules contain information to help the 54-57
reader assess the Town's most significant local
revenue sources, Schedules 7-10

Debt Capacity These schedules present information to help the 58-60
reader assess the affordability of the Town's
current levels of outstanding debt and the
Town's ablility to issue additional debt in the
furure. Schedules 11-13

Demographic and These Schedules offer demographic and 61-62
Economic Information economic indicators 10 help the reader
understand the environment within which the
Town's financial activities take place. Schedules
14-15

Operating Information These  schedules contain  service and 63-69
infrastructure data to help the reader understand
how the  information in the Town's financial
report relates to the services the Town provides
and the activities it performs. Schedules 16-21
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Schedule 5

GENERAL GOVERNMENT REVENUES BY SOURCE
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LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
Permits,
Privilege Revenues
General Other Fees, and From Use
Property Local Regulatory Fines and of Money and
Fiscal Year Taxes Taxes Licenses Forfeliures Property
2012-2013 5 3,110,613 ] 14,510,800 S 170,580 5 172,565 S 413,751
2011-2012 $ 3,065,660 $ 13,383,114 $ 190,405 s 126,702 5 413,404
2010-2011 5 3,006,273 5 13,111,879 ] 131,369 S 95,038 ] 489,477
2009-2010 $ 3,053,638 $ 12,051,711 5 203,998 $ 118,559 $ 340,955
2008-2009 $ 2,808,687 5 12,382,884 $ 137,796 S 86,924 5 592,416
2007-2008 5 2,775,831 S 11,666,242 5 191,857 S 95,025 S 1,203,765
2006-2007 S 5.664.913 S 11,006,752 S 211,538 $ 148,523 $ 1,303,090
2005-2006 $ 2,626,603 S 10,068,405 $ 252,318 5 138,831 S 674,152
2004-2005 $ 2530438 s 8,824,010 5 250,188 $ 87,466 S 318,460
2003-2004 $ 2,403,583 5 8,239,175 s 144,197 5 83420 5 118,531
Charges Business Type
For Inter- Activities
Fiscal Year Services Miscellaneous governmental Total Water and Sewer
2012-2013 5 2,414,843 5 270,265 5 3,821,443 $ 24,884,949 $ 7,114,583
20112012 $§ 2,433,381 5 223,909 s 3,802,224 5 23,638,808 5 6,613,507
2010-2011 $ 2,207,153 ] 257,939 $ 3,797,190 s 23,006,418 S 5,855,965
2008-2010 S 1,397,405 -] 227,265 S 3,685,031 $ 21,087,582 $ 5,932,787
2008-2009 $ 1,399,805 5 1,088,110 S 3,749,731 5 22,336,443 5 5,602,405
2007-2008 $ 1,214,173 ] 714,274 $ 3.520.364 § 21,381,531 ] 5,385,805
2006-2007 ] 1,192,332 5 611,289 s 3,419,113 5 20,557,550 5 5,188,377
2005-2006 5 1,159,231 $ 304,786 5 3,294,761 $ 18,519,087 5 5,145,870
2004-2005 ] 1,061,103 5 204,476 $ 3,057,190 § 16,363,331 S 5,011,017
2003-2004 5 1,039,175 5 181,105 $ 3,417,516 5 15,626,702 S 4,643,572



TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Schedule 6

GENERAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
General Public Pubiic Health and
Fiscal Year Administration Safety Works welfare
2012-2013 5 2,021,703 ] 7,283,535 $ 5,137,107 $ 3,193
2011-2012 5 1,855 373 5 7,052,940 5 4,858,519 3 3,183
2010-2011 S 2,077,241 ] 6,661,587 5 4,848,285 s 3,100
2008-2010 5 1,937,708 ] 6,629,215 5 5,079,978 5 3,100
2008-2008 5 1,701,156 5 6,488,748 S 4,444,111 5 3,040
2007-2008 5 1,618,220 5 5,900,555 5 4,630,843 5 2,700
2006-2007 ] 1,400,715 5 5,219,116 5 4,237,338 5 2,760
2005-2006 $ 1,262,538 5 4,988,285 5 4,204,419 s 2,500
2004-2005 5 1,204,434 5 4,499,832 ] 4,033,452 S 2,500
2003-2004 ] 1,084,717 5 4,145,907 $ 3,652,370 S 2,400
Parks,
Recreatlon
anhd Ccommunity Debt Capltal
Fiscal Year Culture Development Service Qutlay Total
2012-2013 S 3,636,842 5 1,349,522 5 1,111,163 ] 5,588,022 5 26,132,957
2011-2012 $ 3,569,779 s 1,276,907 S 1,111,175 5 1,792,966 5 21,521,852
2010-2011 5 3,286,646 5 1,132,826 s 1,113,981 S 1,369,232 $ 20,452,808
2009-2010 5 2,305,876 ) 1,374,850 5 1,119,544 s 7,962,820 ] 26,413,191
2008-2009 5 1,845,749 ) 1,258,527 5 1,113,324 5 7,188,705 ] 24,043,360
2007-2008 5 1,673,455 $ 1,906,079 ] 1,005,851 s 5,288,726 5 25,035,438
2006-2007 S 1,750,906 ] 1,516,400 s 958,129 5 3,124,325 5 18,200,692
2005-2006 5 1,374,703 5 851,633 5 1,000,010 s 3,114,504 $ 16,798,502
2004-2005 5 1,292,271 5 804,038 5 308,419 5 2,475,860 5 14,621,806
2003-2004 -] 1,230,679 5 1,372,615 ] 347,048 5 2,485,637 -] 14,321,373
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

Schedule 8

SC. E
Coliected within the
Taxes Levied Flscal Year of the Levy Collectlons Total Collections To Date
Fiscal for the Percentage in Subsequent Percentage
Year Flscal Year Amount {1) of Levy Years (2) Amount of Levy
2012-2013 $ 3,292,044 5 3,246,188 298.58% 5 5 3,246,188 98.58%
2011-2012 5 3,244,401 5 3,042,243 63.77% 5 175,010 5 3,217,253 99.16%
2010-2011 $ 3,220,032 5 3,156,754 98.03% 5 48,773 $ 3,205,527 99.55%
2008-2010 $ 3,139,720 5 3,083,654 08.21% 5 44,603 s 3,128,257 99.63%
2008-2000 $ 3,105,515 § 3,050,888 DB.24% s 46,350 $ 3,087,238 99.73%
2007-2008 -] 3,010,307 $ 2,928,389 97.28% $ 74,676 S 3,003,065 99.76%
2006-2007 5 2,871,804 $ 2,836,463 B8.77% s 31,340 s 2,867,803 99.86%
2005-2006 ] 2.819,97] $ 2,812,849 99.75% 5 (1,650) 5 2.810,800 899.68%
2004-2005 $ 2,679,761 5 2,615,979 97.62% 5 55,148 5 2,671,127 99.68%
2003-2004 5 2,641 864 5 2,513,352 05.14% 5 114,803 5 2,628,155 99.48%
(1) Includes payments recelved from the Commonwealth of Virginia for Personal Property Tax Rellef Act.
(2} Includes refunds issued for overpayments and corrections.
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Schedule 10

WATER AND SEWER RATES
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
WATER
INSIDE TOWN LIMITS .
4,000 OR LESS $ 1700 $ 16000 $ 1380 $ 1330 $ 1300 § 1200 § 1100 $ I[L.OO $ 1000 § 10.00
PER THOUSAND FOR NEXT 96,000 4.60 4.40 4,00 3.70 3.55 3.45 3.35 3.25 3.05 2.76
PER THOUSAND FOR NEXT 5,800,000 2.60 2.40 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.10 2.10 2.1a 2.00 2,00
OUTSIDE TOWN LIMITS
4,000 OR LESS $ 2550 $ 2400 $ 2070 $ 19685 $ 1850 §$ 1800 $ 1650 § 1650 S5 500 § 15.00
PER THOUSAND FOR NEXT 96,000 6.80 6.60 6.00 5.55 5.32 5.175 5.025 4.875 4.575 4,14
PER THOUSAND FOR NEXT 5,800,000 3.90 3.60 3.30 3.30 3.30 3.15 3.15 3.15 3.00 3.00
EWER
INSIDE TOWN LIMITS
0-4.,000 % 2700 § 26.00 § 23.00 § 2300 § 2200 5 20.00 $ - 8 s - 5
OVER 4.000 PER THOUSAND 7.20 7.00 6.00 5.70 5.65 4.40 . - . .
0-8.000 - 32.00 32.00 32.00 32.00
OVER 8,000 PER THOUSAND - = - - - - 4.20 4.00 4.00 4.00
OUTSIDE TOWN LIMITS
04,000 $ 4050 $ 3900 $§ 3450 § 3450 5 33.00 § 3000 S $ S - 8
OVER 4,000 PER THOUSAND 10.80 10.50 2.00 8.55 8:47 6.60 . - .
0-8,000 - - - - 48.00 48.00 48.00 48.00
OVER 8,000 PER THOUSAND - - £ - - 6.30 6.00 6.00 6.00
GARBAGE
INSIDE TOWN LIMITS $ 3300 § 33.00 § 3000 5 3000 § 30,00 § 26.00 § 2600 § 2600 § 2500 $ 2500
QUTSIDE TOWN LIMITS 49,50 48.00 45.00 45.00 45.00 38.00 39.00 38.00 37.50 37.50
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Total Personal

Income in Per Capita
Fiscal Year Thousands of Personal Unemployment
Ended Population (]) Dollars (2} Income (3) Rate (4)
2013 ** = *x 6.50%
2012 21,458 ** *E 6.80%
2011 21,030 3,175,190 28,668 7.40%
2010 21,041 3,087,781 27,844 7.30%
2009 19,632 3,012,683 27,366 5.83%
2008 19,507 2,980,919 27,354 3.60%
2007 19,120 2,835,781 26,209 2.80%
2006 18,542 2,635,476 24,831 3.10%
2005 18,457 2422518 23,177 3.60%
2004 17,939 2,265,522 22,020 2.60%

Notes:

{1) Data derived from Weldon Cooper statistical analysis for Towns In Virginia,

(2) Data is for Montgomery County and Radford City as this data is not available for
Towns. Data derived from the Bureau of Labor Statistics. Christiansburg is the

County seat for Montgomery County.

(3) Data Is for Montgomery County and Racdford City as this data Is not available for

Towns, Data derlved from the Bureau of Labor Statistics.

(4) Unemployment data is as of June 30.

** Dgta not yet available
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

Employer

Fiscal Year 2013

Schedule 15

Fiscal Year 2004

Number of Employees

Rank

Number of Employees Rank

Montgomery County School Board
Echostar Corporation (Dish Network}
Town of Christiansburg

County of Montgomery

wWal-Mart

Corning Glass Works

Shelor Motor Mile, Inc.

Community Housing Partners
Hubbell Lighting

Red Lobster & The Olive Garden
Lowes Home Centers, Inc.
Cracker Barrel Old Country Store
Target Corp.

The Home Depot

Belk's

Jimmy John's

Comprehensive Computer Solutions
Texas Roadhouse

C&S Door

Sears Roebuck & Company, Inc.
National Bank of Blacksburg

First National Bank (Stellar One)

1,000 and over emplovees

500 to 999 employees
250 to 499 employees
250 to 499 employees
250 to 499 employees
250 1o 499 employees
250 0 499 employees
250 t0 499 employees
100 to 249 employees
100 t0 249 employees
100 to 249 employees
100 to 249 employees
100 to 249 employees
100 t0 249 employees
50 to 99 employees
50 10 99 employees
50 to 99 employees
50 to 99 employees
less than 50

less than 50

less than 50

less than 50

Source: Virginia Employment Commission
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1,000 and over employees

1
1,000 and over employees 2
250 to 499 emplovees 8
250 to 499 employees 6
250 to 499 employees 3
250 to 499 employees 7
250 to 499 employees 5
100 10 249 employees 9
250 to 499 employees 4
100 to 249 employees 18
100 10 249 employees 10
100 to 249 emplovees It
100 t0 248 employees 15
100 to 249 employees 16
less than 50 20
less than 50 21
less than 50 22
100 to 249 employees 14
100 to 249 employees 13
100 to 249 employees 19
100 10 248 employeces 17
100 to 249 employvees 12



TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT TOWN GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Schedule 18

Flscal Year
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Function
General Administration
Town Managers office 5.0 85 10.5 12.0 6.5 9.0 8.0 7.0 55 5.5
Planning 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Treasurer/Finance 11.0 10,0 10.0 10.0 11.0 12.5 12.0 12.5 12,5 125
Human Resources i.5 1.0 1.O 1.0 IO 1.5 1.O 1.0 1.5 1.0
Public Relations L5 1.5 1.5 1.0 . -
Information Technology 2.0 1.5 2.0 2.0
Public Safety
Police 73.5 725 73.0 73.0 70.0 71.5 65.5 61.5 58.0 60.0
Fire 1.5 1.5 2.0 2.0 1.5 1.0 1.5 1O JR) 1.0
Rescue 3.5 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1O IO
Public Works
Malhtehance 3.0 3.0 3.0 30 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Sanitation 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.O 11.0 11.0 1.0 2.0 11.0
Streets 35.0 33.0 35.0 35.0 335 34.0 34.0 32.0 31.0 340
‘Wwater and Sewer 36.0 32.0 36.0 36.0 36.0 36.0 37.0 35.0 34.5 38.0
Plant operations 10.5 11.5 11.5 1.5 11.0 11.0 1.0 1.0 110 11.0
Engineering 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10,0 2.0 10.5
Bullding tnSpectIons 5.0 4.5 5.0 5.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Parks and Recreation 79.0 78.0 86.0 86.0 70.5 90.0 77.5 75.5 715 69.5
Aguatics 40.5 40.5 34.0 34.0 3.0
Cemetery 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.0 - - -
Totals 333.5 325.5 337.5 337.5 2B86.0 298.5 278.5 267.5 254.5 264.0
Fire Department Volunteers 36.0 35.0 35.0 35.0 34.0 35.0 36.0 16.0 16.0 17.0
Rescue Department Volunteers 75.0 75.0 67.0 67.0 67.0 67.0 85.0 62.0 62.0 49.0

Note: A full-time employee Is scheduled to work 2,080 hours per year (including holiday, vacation, and sick leave). Full-time

employment is calculated by dividing total labor hours by 2,080,
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - PERMANENT FUND (modified accrual basis of accounting)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

Schedule 21

Variance with

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Beginning unassigned fund balance; 5 S - 5 s -
Revenues (Inflows)

Interest Income 1,000 1,000 7.971 6,971

Burials 70,000 70,000 69,510 (490}

Sale of Lots 26,000 26,000 28,930 2,930

Miscellaneous 40 40 - (40}
Amounts Available for Expenditures 97,040 97,040 106,411 0,371
Expenditures (Qutflows):

current:

Salaries and Fringe 02,257 92,257 84,572 7.685

Insurance and Operational Costs 77.750 77,750 65,501 12,2490

Equipment Purchases and Capital Cutlay 108,000 108,000 59,622 48,378
Total Expenditures 278,007 278,007 209,605 68,312

Excess of revenues over expenditures (180,967} {180,967) (103,284} 77,683
Other financing sources {usesk

Transfers 206,967 206,967 170,438 (36,520)
Total other financing sources (uses) 206,967 206,967 170,438 (36,520)

Assigned to Perpetual Care 26,000 26,000 60,469 43,469
Ending Unassigned Budgetary Fund Balance ] - $ . $ (2315} § (2,315)

{512]
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Michael B. Cooke, C.PA., PC.

Certified Public Accountants

6 Colony Park
2001 South Main Street
Blacksburg, Virginia 24060

540) 953-1152
( ) INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTOL OVER FINANCIAIL

REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
© - GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

The Honorable Mayor and Members of Town Council
Town of Christiansburg, Virginia

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted In
the United States of America and the standards applicable to the financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities and
business-type activities information of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia, as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia's
basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated November 20,
2013.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the
Town of Christiansburg, Virginia's internal control over financial reporting (intermnal
control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia's intermal control. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the efiectiveness of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia's
internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a
timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,
in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
govemance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in
internal control that might be material weaknesses or, significant deficiencies.
Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town of
Christiansburg, Virginia's financial statements are free of material misstaterent, we
performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct
and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of
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our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to
be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance.
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Muckid B Coke, CHFC

Blacksburg, Virginia
November 20, 2013
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Michael B. Cooke, C.PA., PC.

Ceriified Public Accountants

6 Colorny Park

2001 South Main Streel
Blacksburg, virgitiia 24060
(540) 953-1152

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF LAWS, REGULATIONS, CONTRACTS, AND GRANTS

The Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council
Town of Christiansburg, Virginia:

Wwe have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Town of
Christiansburg, Virginia, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and have
issued our report thereon dated November 20, 2013.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards
and standards applicabie to financial audits contained in Specifications for Audits of
Counties, Cities, and Towns issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the
Commonwealth of Virginia. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement.

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town of
Christiansburg’s financial statements are, free of material misstatement, we also
performed tests of compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grants related to the following state compliance matters:

State Compliance Matters

Code of Virginia: ' State Adency Requirements:
Budget and Appropriation Laws Highway Maintenance Funds

Cash and Investment Laws

Conflicts of Interest Acts

Local Retirement Systems

Debt Provisions

Procurement Laws

Uniform Disposition of Unclaimed Property Act

Compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grants, applicable to the Town of
Christiansburg, Virginia, is the responsibility of the Town’'s management. Providing
an opinion on such provisions was not an objective of our audit of the financial
statements and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

The results of our tests relating to the above mentioned state compiiance rnatters
disciosed no instances of noncompliance.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of Town Council,
management, and state and federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities

and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

Mkl T b K7

Blacksburg, Virginia
November 20, 2013
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